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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
to our Shareholders the fiscal 2008 annual results of Hop Fung
Company’,
“Group” or “we', "our” or "

| am delighted to present
Group Holdings Limited (our including our Company’s
subsidiaries as our us”).

2008 was an uncommon year for everyone in China, confronting the
challenges of the snow storms, the Wenchuan earthquake as well
as the impact from the financial crisis. For us, the downturn of the
US and EU economies in the fourth quarter dragged down exports
of consumer products in China, slashing demand for corrugated
containers in China. Volatility in raw materials prices, especially
the plunge in wastepaper and corrugated containerboard prices
since September last year, have also contributed to a challenging
environment for our industry.

That said, we have been able to deliver growth in our business
in the year as a result of our vertically integrated operations. We
now have a stable upstream business and a steady supply of high
quality papers, which fully satisfy the raw materials requirements
of the downstream.

Our group’s upstream production line, Green Forest (QingXin)
Paper Industrial Limited (“Green Forest”),
our development. During the year, our Phase 2 production line and

remains the focus of

new power plant started operations, directly resulting in production
cost reductions. We also made technical upgrades to our Phase
1 production line, giving it an additional 20% capacity as well
as the ability to flexibly switch between producing corrugated
medium and linerboard. At present, the two upstream production
lines can produce 350,000 tonnes each year, fully meeting the
raw materials requirements of our downstream corrugators with
high quality products.
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In the downstream business, our Group has been expanding our
market share and the proportion of sales to domestic customers.
We have been continuously developing our domestic sales and
domestic sales increased sharply in the fourth quarter, a trend
we have been able to maintain thus far. Given the challenging
operating environment and accelerating industry consolidation,
we built a new corrugator during the year under review in
order to expand our capacity for corrugated paper boards and
carton boxes, solidifying our position in the domestic corrugated
containers industry.

In addition, a new corrugator and carton box production line are
being installed at Green Forest, which will allow us to enter the
corrugated containers market in Qingyuan and surrounding areas.
They are expected to start production by the end of the third
quarter of 2009.

Our production facilities are already at a par to international levels.
We hope that the combination of our upstream and downstream
business can bring more synergies, with better efficiency and
lower costs through improved production processes and flexibility
in production. In sales, we are aiming to expand our market share,
targeting 10% market share in the corrugated containers market
in Guangdong compared to the current 5%.

We see green shoots of recovery in our export sales, and our
domestic sales are also expanding as a proportion of total sales.
This leads us to think that the worst is over for the Group,
notwithstanding the continued recession in the US and the EU,
at least until the end of 2009.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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In a crisis there are always dangers and opportunities. A difficult
environment always brings us hopes for expanding our business,
and the challenges ahead for us mean numerous new opportunities.
We have always been a steady ship and in this difficult environment
we are confident of resolving the challenges ahead.

Last but not least, | would like to take the opportunity to sincerely
thank our management and our staff at all levels for their work over
the last year, and to express gratitude to our customers, suppliers
and investors. We would strive to continue to provide long-term
and rewarding returns to our Group and our shareholders.

Hui Sum Kwok

Chairman
22nd April, 2009
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The downturn of the US and EU economies in the fourth
quarter dragged down exports of consumer products in China,
slashing demand for corrugated containers in China. Volatility in
raw materials prices, especially the plunge in wastepaper and
corrugated containerboard prices since September last year, have
also contributed to a challenging environment for our industry.

Despite weak exports from China due to the global financial crisis
slashing demand for corrugated container products, we have been
able to achieve steady growth in our business in the last year due
to our vertically integrated business model and diversified client
base. In 2008, we have strived to expand our domestic sales to
various industries, and sales to domestic clients rose from 20% in
the preceding year to around 25%. Utilization rates reached around
70% for our upstream plant and nearly 80% for our downstream
plants, a satisfactory performance in our view.

To reduce overall production costs, our group has continued to
develop and optimize our Green Forest plant. In July last year, our
Phase 2 production line and new power plant started operations.
In addition, we started technical upgrades to our Phase 1 plant
in September last year, and the upgrades were completed in
December. This has allowed the plant to flexibly switch between
producing corrugated medium and linerboard as well as raising
annual capacity by 20%.

In addition, with the upstream capacity fully satisfying our raw
materials requirements, we no longer need to store linerboard
and medium of different sizes. We can now scale back the
inventory storage facilities of our Dongguan plant for use as a new
corrugator. That new line started production in July 2008, raising
overall capacity by 10%. This has improved our company'’s fixed
asset turnover and vertical integration. In addition, our sales are
now more weighted towards domestic clients as we continue to
increase our domestic market share, with domestic sales accounting
for over 40% of total sales of the Group in the fourth quarter of
2008, compared to over 20% in the first three quarters.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating results

Revenue of the group in 2008 increased by 11.6%, from HK$925.5
million to HK$1,033.2 million. It was mainly contributed by the
growth in sales volume and rising selling price in the first three
quarters of 2008. The global financial crisis led to tremendous drop
in export sales and selling price in the last quarter. However, the
fall in export sales was offset by the growth in domestic sales,
resulting in a slight drop in revenue in the last quarter of 2008
as compared to the last quarter of 2007

With continuous rising cost throughout the first three quarters,
the group maintained a high stock level in September 2008. The
high raw material cost but low selling price in the last quarter
gave rise to an overall decrease in gross profit in 2008 by 6.5%,
from HK$211.6 million to HK$197.8 million. Gross profit margin
also dropped from 22.9% to 19.1%.

Other income increased by 11.9% from HK$18.5 million to HK$20.7
million. Such increase was primarily due to the increase in selling
price of scrap.

Selling and distribution costs increased by 3.3% from HK$45.4
million to HK$46.8 million. The increase was mainly attributable
to the transportation cost incurred in the second half of 2008 for
delivering kraft linerboard from upstream plant in Qingyuan city to
the downstream plants in Dongguan city and Shenzhen city.

Administrative expenses increased by 6.3% from HK$58.5
million to HK$62.2 million. The increment was the costs for staff
and insurance for the new operation of the linerboard plant in
Qingyuan city.

Other expenses decreased by 9.1% from HK$24.7 million to
HK$22.4 million. The main reason was the reversal of allowance
for doubtful debts provided in 2007 which indicated the group's
high capability in receivable management.

The Group recorded a drop in earnings before interest and tax
("EBIT") by 14.3% to HK$87.1 million. EBIT margin was 8.4%
(2007: 11 %).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Operating results (Continued)

In 2008, additional bank loans and trade loans were raised to
finance the new upstream linerboard project (including power
plant) and higher raw material cost respectively, resulting in
increase in finance costs by 73.6%, from HK$6.8 million to
HK$11.9 million.

Same as last year, unrealised change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments and structured borrowing were recognized in
the income statement for accounting purpose only. They were non-
cash in nature and will be reversed to zero at maturity date.

During 2008, the Group continued to enter into certain new
forward exchange contracts to minimize the exchange rate risk
in acquiring linerboard plant and raw materials. The structured
borrowing contract again was proved to be effective as no interest
had been incurred.

Net profit from operation (net profit for the year before unrealised
change in fair value of derivative financial instruments and change
in fair value of structured borrowing) dropped by 23.9% from
HK$96.4 million to HK$73.4 million. The respective net profit
margin fell from 10.4% to 7.1%.

Net profit for the year tremendously decreased by 62.9% from
HK$111.7 million to HK$41.4 million. In addition to the negative
effect from the global financial crisis, it was also affected by the
unrealised change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
and change in fair value of structured borrowing amounting to
HK$24.8 million and HK$7.2 million respectively.

Net profit margin for the year was 4.0%. Basic earnings per share
was 8.58 HK cents (2007: 24.85 HK cents). The directors did not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31st December, 2008 (2007: 4.32 HK cents).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity, financial and capital resources

At 31st December, 2008, the Group's total cash and cash equivalents
were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Bank balances and cash amounted to HK$254.8 million (2007:
HK$153.7 million). Net current assets and current ratio of the Group
were HK$10.9 million (2007: HK$121.9 million) and 1.03 (2007:
1.32) respectively. The fall in current ratio was due to reduction
in both volume and cost of stock, rise in current portion of term
loans and surge in unrealised change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments (non-cash in nature).

The Group had capital expenditures amounting to HK$290.6
million during the year, comprising the costs for the construction
of the upstream linerboard project and downstream machinery
enhancement.

Inventory turnover rate decreased to 56 days as compared to
69 days in last year as the group reduced the purchase of raw
materials in the last quarter of 2008. The group also used up most
of the high-cost raw materials in stock and sold to customers
before year end.

At 31st December, 2008, trust receipt loans decreased by HK$100.3
million and other trade loans increased by HK$124.7 million.
New bank loans amounting to HK$243.0 million were raised for

financing the upstream linerboard project. As a result, short term
and long term bank borrowings (including bank borrowings and
structured borrowings) increased by HK$46.1 million and HK$99.9
million respectively. Net gearing ratio (measured by total bank
borrowings net of cash to equity attributable to shareholders)
was 50.5% (2007: 46.4%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A tax audit had been conducted by the Inland Revenue Department
in December 2004. The Inland Revenue Department issued
protective assessments for the years of assessment 1998/1999 to
2004/2005 to certain subsidiaries of the Group. Objections have
been filed against all these assessments. As the tax audit was
still in progress, in the opinion of the Directors, the outcome and
impact of this matter could not be determined with reasonable
certainty at this stage.

PROSPECTS

Despite the impact on the global economic crisis on the outlook
for the corrugated containers sector, our Group’s long term view
towards the corrugated containers industry in China remains
optimistic. Even though we expect raw materials prices to remain
volatile in 2009, our vertically integrated business model should
help reduce dependence on external sourcing and the impact of
price fluctuations to operating costs.

The difficult operating environment has resulted in numerous paper
makers and box makers closing doors. We are taking advantage
of this opportunity to gain more market share by building a new
corrugator at Green Forest, which would start production in the
third quarter of this year. This would increase our annual capacity
by 9% and help develop the northern Guangdong Province market
for us.

PSR (4F)

HAREE

BBRN_TTWE+ — AETHBRESE - BiKR
REZ-NANNE/ —ANNEFEZ_TTNE )/
TETRFCRVFERERETHBARED
RIEETFH - AEBORMEZSFIRELER
o MRNEETHREELSRERF  EFRREME
BRGEAEBRTEUEEZERRTE -

RE

AERREBEEREARTENEHRIFEEEE

VRE - BEAREEY P RTERENRENSD
REH - BARAERERARFORMBERT
B AMEMEZELRETNARNESEER
o ARVE SN R A0 AR FE S B RO B B R K
N A

HRTSEERFEFTRKD - STORETZN
BN AR mBARAREE  RIEERBEINSEX
TSR - RARERENEO RS EREER
NEELRE  BR-ZBZENFE=FRE BA
SENFERBRIRNER  AORBERSE
JEEBEY AT o




HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 & Bk BRA

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, aged 49, is the chairman of the Board and
a co-founder of the Group. He is responsible for the overall
corporate planning, business development and management of
the Group. He has over 24 years of experience in the corrugated
paper-ware industry in Hong Kong and the PRC. He is a brother
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai, and the spouse of
Ms. Wong Mui.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 47 is the vice chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and a co-founder of the Group. He is
responsible for the business development of the Group. He has
over 24 years of experience in the corrugated paperware industry
in Hong Kong and the PRC. He is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok,
and Mr. Hui Sum Tai.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 42, is the chief executive officer of the
Company and an executive Director. He has joined the Group
since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group. He has over
22 years of experience in the corrugated paper-ware industry in
Hong Kong and the PRC. He is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok
and Mr. Hui Sum Ping.

Mr. Wong Wing Por, aged 47 is an executive Director. He has
joined the Group since its establishment and is responsible for
the sales, marketing and production management of the Group.
Mr. Wong has over 22 years of experience in the corrugated
paper-ware industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, aged 38, is an executive Director and the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Hui is responsible for
the financial management of the Group. She is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hui obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts with
Honours in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong
in 1992. Prior to joining the Group in May 1997 she had worked
in the auditing field for around 5 years which included working
for an international accounting firm.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan, aged 46, graduated from the University
of Manitoba in Canada with a bachelor’s degree of arts in 1985. He
thereafter continued to pursue his legal qualification and completed
the law society’s final examination at Bristol Polytechnic in the
United Kingdom in 1989. Mr. Liu was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 4th September, 2003.
He is currently the senior partner of a law firm, Messrs. Alvan
Liu & Partners, and a China-appointed attesting officer appointed
by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. He has been appointed as
the legal adviser of a number of organisations and associations in
Hong Kong, including the Hong Kong Small and Medium Business
Association, Wong Tai Sin District Affairs Advisors Committee and
Junior Police Officers Association H.K.P.

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 47 is a practising Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He graduated from Birmingham
University in 1984 with a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce (majoring
in Accounting). Mr. Chee was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 4th September, 2003. He
is currently a senior partner of Chan Chee Cheng & Co, a firm of
Certified Public Accountants. He had worked in two international
accounting firms in Canada and Hong Kong. Mr. Chee is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Ontario, Canada. In addition to his appointment to the Company,
he is also an independent non-executive director of Mastermind
Capital Limited (formerly known as Apex Capital Limited) and
Greater China Technology Group Limited, both companies listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Mr.Wong Chu Leung, aged 61, has over 24 years of experience in
enterprise management and manufacturing operation management.
Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 15th September, 2004. Mr. Wong is currently
shareholder and director of certain metal ware and plastic ware
manufacturing companies/corporations with manufacturing plants
located in the PRC.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Mui, aged 43, is the deputy general manager of the
Group. She has worked for the Group since its establishment and
is responsible for the general administration of the Group. Ms.
Wong is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok.

Mr. Yuen Fu Keung, aged 46, is the project manager of the Group.
He is responsible for project development and implementation
of the Group. Mr. Yuen graduated from the University of Bath in
the United Kingdom in 1986 where he obtained a Bachelor of
Science Degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering with first
class honours. Prior to joining the Group in November 2003, he
had over 8 years of working experience in corrugating machinery
and control systems.

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 37, is the accounting manager of the
Group. She is responsible for the daily accounting operations of
the Group. Ms. Wong graduated from the University of Houston
— Downtown in the US with a bachelor degree of business
administration majoring in accounting in 1994. Prior to joining
the Group in May 2002, she had worked in the auditing field
for around 7 years which included working for an international
accounting firm.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

The board of directors (“Board"”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31st December, 2008.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
("Listing Rules”) are applied and implemented is explained in the
following parts of this Corporate Governance Report:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard shareholder
interests. The Group's corporate governance principles emphasise
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board of the Company believes that good corporate governance
practices are increasingly important for maintaining and promoting
shareholder value and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules sets
out the principles of good corporate governance and two levels
of corporate governance practices:

(a) code provisions which listed issuers are expected to comply
with or to give considered reasons for any deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which listed
issuers are encouraged to comply with or to give considered
reasons for deviation.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on
the principles as well as the code provisions as set out in the
CG Code.

With the exception of the Code Provisions A.2.1, A.4.2 and B.1.3
of the CG Code, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year under
review.
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The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business
and to reviewing its corporate governance practices from time to
time to ensure that they comply with the statutory and professional
standards and align with the latest developments.

THE BOARD/BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance. The Board has delegated to the senior
management the authority and responsibilities for the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group. In addition, the Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations,
and have acted in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
at all times.

Delegation of Management Functions

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflicts of interest), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Each director is normally able to seek

independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the
senior management. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the Chief Executive Officer and
the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

Board Composition

Membership of the Board is currently made up of 8 members in
total, with 5 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive
directors.

The Board of the Company comprises the following directors:

Executive directors:

AREZAE CTTHRERREEHER T
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ExedAm
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R=MIBIIERTES -

ARREEGHUTESAMN

Hui Sum Kwok -
Hui Sum Ping -
Hui Sum Tai -
Wong Wing Por

Hui Yuen Li -

Chairman
Vice-Chairman
Chief Executive Officer

Company Secretary and Member of
Remuneration Committee

Independent non-executive directors:

Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan -
Chee Man Sang, Eric —

Wong Chu Leung -

Chairman of Audit Committee
Member of Audit Committee and
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to

the Listing Rules.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed

under

18

Management Profile” on page 13 and 14.
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During the year ended 31st December, 2008, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.
All directors, including independent non-executive directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. Independent non-executive directors have
been invited to serve on the Audit and Remuneration Committees
of the Company.
Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of
Association. The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring
the appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing

the independence of independent non-executive directors.

Each of the independent non-executive directors of the Company
is appointed for a specific term and shall be subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years.

In accordance with the Company’'s Articles of Association, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.
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Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
The Company'’s Articles of Association deviate from Code Provision
A.4.2 of the CG Code which provides that any new director
appointed by the Board during the year shall hold office until the
next following annual general meeting after appointment, when
he/she shall be eligible for re-election.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company's needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary.

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, Messrs Hui
Sum Kwok, Hui Sum Tai and Chee Man Sang, Eric shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors
standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular dated 30th April, 2009 contains detailed
information of the directors standing for re-election.
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Induction and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed director receives formal, tailored and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has adequate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. Such induction shall
be supplemented with visits to the Company's key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

The directors are continually updated with developments in
the legal and regulatory regime and the business and market
environments to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefing and professional development for directors
will be arranged whenever necessary.

Board Meetings

e Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31st December, 2008, four regular
Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly intervals
for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. The attendance rate
was nearly 100%.
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The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
Board, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee during
the year ended 31st December, 2008 are set out below:

HE_ZTN\F+_A=+—HILFEESF
g FHZReRERZESEREBNES
ZHEREREGIT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BEEERKE
Remuneration Audit
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
EEnE BEEY FHEEE EREE®
Hui Sum Kwok FTARE 4 N/A 73 A 2
Hui Sum Ping AR 4 N/A TEA 2
Hui Sum Tai FRE 4 N/A i A 2
Wong Wing Por TR 4 N/A i A 2
Hui Yuen Li S aF] 4 1 2
Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan B EE 4 N/A 73 A 2
Chee Man Sang, Eric MR A& 3 1 2
Wong Chu Leung 735! 4 1 2

e Practices and Conduct of Meetings o EFEEHREFZHET

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
directors apprised of the latest developments and financial

position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each director also have separate
and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.
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The Chief Executive Officer, Qualified Accountant and Company
Secretary attend all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise
on business developments, financial and accounting matters,
statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
version is open for directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder
or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting. The Company's Articles of
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Association contain provisions requiring directors to abstain BESEEMBEATHEERN R 2RS
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings BMEREL T AGEEEAR

for approving transactions in which such directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FRERITHAR

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive AR EEFRITHAE 2B LBHEHNRAL
Officer of the Company are carried out by different individuals. #HfE - EFEFFRATRBELE  HHEESES
The Chairman of the Board is Mr Hui Sum Kwok, who provides ®&Z{ER FHEFEH WEBREFFHNM
leadership for the Board and is also responsible for chairing the & BREFHESREEZRMEHTwH—1
meetings and managing the operations of the Board and ensuring EAFGEZFEH - TREHRFTRELE - 8
that all major and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board EBEEARDAZEBRETAREER 2 KK 5 2
in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive Officer KRB °

is Mr Hui Sum Tai, who is responsible for running the Company'’s

businesses and implementing the Group's strategic plans and

business goals.
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The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to
ensure balance of powers and effective segregation of duties.
The Board of Directors considers that the responsibilities of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and
distinctive and no written terms on division of responsibilities
between Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are necessary.
This deviates from the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
which stipulates that the division of responsibilities between
chairman and chief executive officer should be established and
set out in writing.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company's expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 members, namely
Mr Chee Man Sang, Eric (Chairman), Ms Hui Yuen Li and Mr
Wong Chu Leung, and the majority of them are independent

non-executive directors.
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The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include:

e To make recommendations on the establishment of procedures
for developing remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors, which policy shall ensure that no director or any
of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

e To make recommendations on the remuneration packages of
the executive directors;

e To review and approve the remuneration packages of the
executive directors by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions; and

e To review and approve the compensation arrangements for
the executive directors.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection
and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman and/
or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
31st December, 2008 and reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well
as the annual bonuses of the executive directors for the year

under review. The attendance rate of the Remuneration Committee
Meeting was 100%.
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Meanwhile, the remuneration of the senior management of the
Company is not considered by the Remuneration Committee and this
deviates from the Code Provision B.1.3 of the CG Code. Currently,
the remuneration of the senior management is attended by the
Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan (Chairman), Mr Chee Man
Sang, Eric and MrWong Chu Leung (including one independent non-
executive director with the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise). None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of
the Company's existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

e To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board.

e To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditors.

e To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's

financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31st December, 2008 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report of
the internal auditor on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes, and the re-appointment of the
external auditors. The attendance records of these Audit Committee
Meetings are set out under “Board Meetings” on page 22.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st December,
2008 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ dealings in the Company's securities (the “Company's
Code”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Company's Code
throughout the year ended 31st December, 2008.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the "Employees Written
Guidelines") for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF ES=HABUKHXRZEML
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the EFERHGREEZ-_TTN\F+-_A=+—H
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st LWLFEARRARMBHRERZET -
December, 2008.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and EZFEABY EWRAIREMEERE FHAHRE
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price- ZFHREPBHE  REFRLERHMIEEE
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the ~ EHEHFE - EM R SR ER T - EFEE
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The directors are  EBEEAR AW BMER 2 HE - BRMBHRELQT
responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements EERBRALEEZ EHMRN - ARZFHHHREK
of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial TF&AFEMREMER 2 G5H%R -

statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the

Group and that relevant statutory requirements and applicable

accounting standards are complied with.

The Management has provided such explanation and information ZEEERNE=@REMEMBRELEN  REFS
to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an A UBREXRGES AN AR QR B E R &k
informed assessment of the financial information and position %' {FHAEFNE EFS2WIaRERER
of the Company put to the Board for approval. The Board has #EERE - FIH 2 MERBAER - UEMH
received from the senior management the management accounts, /& BWERIEL EIETE ©

and such explanation and relevant information as necessary to

enable the Board to make an informed assessment for approving

the financial statements.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S /MEZBER&XBE M <
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about ARGINEZHEMEBERREEVBEERRZE
their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated financial FZEBREREL2REIBE[ B @RE IR o
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on

page 52 and 53.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to REIFEFR - KRR RAIMNEZHBANEL o FEEIR
the Company'’s external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set 7 E:TATEN A ZEBS&#F 0T -

out below:
Category of services Fee paid/payable
REESR e EREA
HK$
I
Audit services ZE R 1,380,000
Non-audit services IEZBRTE
- Preliminary review — ¥ EH 20,000
— Compliance review —&HREHN 109,000
1,509,000
INTERNAL CONTROLS A IR EE 1

During the year under review, the Board has conducted a REEFRN FEEFFERIENEEAMBEZHE
review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the  Z e -
Company.

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system EEZ®EERABRAARRNRZ NEEZEGE - Wi
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board FEME - EEGNMEB TR TE NP EEIZEH
maintains an adequate internal control system to safeguard the [E ' RERRAFTREN G RAAAZEE °
interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.
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The internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
to identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of
the Group. The internal auditor reviews and evaluates the control
process, monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and reports
to the Audit Committee on any findings and measures to address
the variances and identified risks.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide an important channel
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee and, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent Board committee, normally attend the
annual general meeting and other relevant shareholder meetings
to answer questions at shareholder meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.hopfunggroup.com, where extensive up-to-date
information and updates on the Company's business developments
and operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are posted.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS IRERZER

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolutions ~ ARERRZ M LER - KA ERRERE
are proposed at shareholder meetings on each substantial issue, FHFHEEAMB(BEEREFNES)IRSE T
including the election of individual directors. RERE o

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a ARQFREBERMUNEHIIBRERNRREAE L2
poll on resolutions at shareholder meetings are contained in the SKIUEEFARIAZREZEFNRIETF - ZKIA
Company'’s Articles of Association. Details of rights to demanda REFRAKXARZZERMZFBFEAARTRE
poll are included in all circulars to shareholders and explained in  ZFTBEBEH - WAGH R G HETTR INCARREE -

the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and MUEREFARRZERERENETRERRIZ
of the Stock Exchange after the shareholder meeting at which BRE K& RITEER DT KB AT 2 @uh EH
voting is taken on a poll. o
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31st December, 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2008

are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 54.

On 27th June, 2008, a dividend of 4.32 HK cents per share,
amounting to approximately HK$20,864,000, was paid to the
shareholders of the Company as final dividend for 2007.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on pages 131
and 132.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group for the
year ended 31st December, 2008 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 57 and 58.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Vice Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wong Wing Por

Ms. Hui Yuen Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Wong Chu Leung

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Tai and Mr. Chee Man
Sang, Eric shall retire from office by rotation in the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of one year commencing
15th September, 2008, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 13
to 15 of this report.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share
options during the year:

BEw)

BEXHEESN  BREERRBFASERE
FZEEMBERRAREFEMME QBT LA
SEMMMEHBEECOEEHEERIN ATRE—F
MR 2 RFEEH

AR CDEESFILIFPTESRIE LT RAB
W2BIEEHZ FERRE - AARARR &
RBMIFNTEFTIRBIAL -

ARBEELNSREEEREFHTHRAFRE
1BEEAEREREE -

B

ARrBRIE B2 FIEHERN G M B REM
26 °

TREBADABRERNERN 2 B

Outstanding

Outstanding Granted  Exercised Cancelled  at end of
Exercisable  at beginning during during during the year
Category Option type  Date of grant price of the year  the year  the year  the year i3S
5l BREES RAAH TEE EFAHRGE  FRRE  FRAGE FREE HAGE
(Note 1) HK$
G BT
Directors
B
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (Note 2) D 29.5.2007 2.640 1,893,000 - - - 1,893,000
SRELE(RE2)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping D 29.5.2007 2.640 1,893,000 - - - 1,893,000
HRTAE
Mr. Hui Sum Tai D 29.5.2007 2.640 3,678,360 - - - 3,678,360
ARREE



HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A Z2&£ @R AR QA
ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —ZET/\ £ &R

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

= -
EEERE
SHARE OPTIONS (continued) B
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Cancelled  at end of
Exercisable  at beginning during during during the year
Category Option type  Date of grant price of the year  the year  the year  the year i3S
g7 BREES BHAH TEE  EOHEAE  FRRE  FAGE FREE HAGE
(Note 1) HK$
(Wi3E1) BT
Mr. Wong Wing Por D 29.5.2007 2.640 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
THRERE
Ms. Hui Yuen Li D 29.5.2007 2.640 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
SR Tt
Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan D 29.5.2007 2.640 120,000 - - - 120,000
BEBLE
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric D 29.5.2007 2.640 120,000 - - - 120,000
BRESA
Mr. Wong Chu Leung D 29.5.2007 2.640 120,000 - - - 120,000
10,424,360 - - - 10,424,360
Other employees
EtbER D 29.5.2007 2.640 7,950,000 - - - 7950,000
Total all categories
2R 2t 18,374,360 - - - 18,374,360
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BREe)
Notes: B &E -

1. The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by 1. RHEREZZEBEHHEETREARLBRERSE

Directors at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share TE o AARBRET B TERERFE AEITRAT
options granted under the Company’s share option scheme may only T HTTR RS 2 AR -

exercise their options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Option type D Maximum % of share options exercisable
DS IR B ATEBEREZBESADL
1.3.2008 - 28.2.2009 up to 50%

= A E50%

1.3.2009 - 28.2.2010 up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
SR AETS% (AMKRITEEAR)

1.3.2010 - 28.2.2011 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)
HEATE100% (SAMKITESE BR)

2. Out of the 1,893,000 share options granted, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok was 2. RER121,893,000EBRES - FFHRE L ER

directly interested in 1,393,000 share options and was deemed to 1,393,000 EREF I AEE#ERE - WHEEAR
be interested in 500,000 share options owned by Ms. Wong Mui, ERLZL(FRELEZEBRASESREREE
who is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and a member of the senior K8 )# A 2500,00017 B ARE R AR -

management of the Group.

For the year ended 31st December, 2008, no share options were REZE-_ZTN\F+_-_A=+—HI-FEF #E
granted. ¥ (0 ] B R A o

At 31st December, 2008, the number of shares in respect of R-ZZENFE+-_A=+—H REFEZTEEH
which options had been granted and remained outstanding under M ARITEEREY & 2 &7 EH 518,374,360
the Scheme was 18,374,360, representing approximately 3.8% of % - #)EARQFE H D BETRMN3.8% °

the shares of the Company in issue at that date.




HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZERAER AR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2008, the interests
and/or short positions of the Directors and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ"), as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies, were as follows:

(a) Shares

Company /

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —EF/\ £ &K

EERKRG - ARROREZ 2ER

BEXHEEN RZBENF+_A=+—
B ZRAXBREES MGG ESKS
BRG] E3B26 2 REEBF 2 B LM AR -
FRBELTRAREZETESFXFINRETAD
HMEARBARBEHEIIMABRAA(HR
& BERREZBEATRARTRER
BOAE(ERRBERRMEGN) 2B - BER
NREFPHEB2ERR KRBT

Name of associated

(a) B
Approximate
percentage of
Number and issued share capital

Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HERTRE
EEpnE KRR/ REEEER 5% B5HERER BOEL
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Founder of a discretionary 252,000,000 shares 52.18%
RELE VA trust / interest of controlled Long position (Note 1)

corporations 252,000,0008 & 3

RRETALA/ A (M)

R EEER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Beneficial owner 8,038,000 shares 1.66%
FRERAE VNS ERERA Long position

8,038,000 &
i
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Interest of spouse 500,000 shares 0.10%
FRERAE VN REzER Long position
500,000/ 17
&

Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 252,000,000 shares 52.18%
TRTRAE N trust / interest of controlled Long position (Note 1)

corporations 252,000,000% & 17

2RfETALA/ A (M)
REERER

2
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EEZ=RKR© - AEROKESF 2 #HE

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued) (&)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) B ()
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HEBRTRE
BESpg RO/ REEEEE 5% EHUERER BAEALL
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 6,694,000 shares 1.39%
FATEE NS ERlBA Long position
6,694,000 &3
A
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of a controlled Nil (Note 1) -
FRREE VN corporation & (M)
REERRR
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 6,246,000 shares 1.29%
TRREE ON| EREBA Long position
6,246,000 {7
A
Mr. Wong Wing Por Company Founder of a discretionary Nil (Note 1) -
TEREE VN trust / interest of controlled &(Mzr)
corporations
2ERTEA/
XpEEER
Mr. Wong Wing Por Company Beneficial owner 6,020,000 shares 1.25%
TEREE YN EREAA Long position
6,020,000 1
i)
Ms. Hui Yuen Li Company Beneficial owner 3,670,000 shares 0.76%
Rkl LN EREBA Long position
3,670,000/ 13

e
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Shares (continued)
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EERKRG  HERORBEZ 2ER

(%)

(a) B1D(4)

Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HERITRE
BEEpg KRR/ BREEER 5% EEHARER BREAL
Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan Company Beneficial owner 222,000 shares 0.05%
BEBLE VN EREBA Long position
222,000 f& R (H
ia
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric Company Beneficial owner 96,000 Shares 0.02%
BRERE AR EREAA Long position
96,000 BB
ia
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 7,886 shares of US$0.01 each 78.86%
FRERA Limited trust / interest of controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
(“Hop Fung Industries”) ~ corporations 7886 BREE.01 XL 2R 7
RREEREALA/ T8 (M1 k)
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 7,886 shares of US$0.01 each 78.86%
TRTEE trust / interest of controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
corporations 7886 BREE.01E T 2 B’
2ERTEA/ ire (M1 k2)
REERER
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 857 shares of US$0.01 each 8.57%
TRERE EREAA Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
857 S REB.01ET 2 BRIA
HA(MFIR2)
Mr. Wong Wing Por Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 1,257 shares of US$0.01 each 12.57%
TERREAE trust / interest of a controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
corporation 1,257 R BREE0.01E T2 R
2ERETEA/ iFe (M1 R2)

REElEs
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

EERKRG  HERORBEZ 2HER
(#)

(a) BD(4)

Approximate

Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HERTRE
BEpg KRR/ EREEER 5% B5HERER BHEAL
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner / founder 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
FRERA (Holdings) Limited of a discretionary trust / Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
(“Hop Fung Industries interest of a controlled 5,000 5 REE0.01E L2 K1
BVI") corporation e (1 R3)
ERBAEAN/
2REREFATA/
RREEEs
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries BVl Beneficial owner / founder 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
FARTRE of a discretionary trust / Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
interest of a controlled 5,000 FRAEB0.0ETZREA
corporation iFe (1 R3)
ERBEEN/
2EREFETA/
iR
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Gong Ming Hop Fung Interest of controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
HRELE Paper Ware Factory corporations deferred shares of HK$1 each
Limited REiEER Long and short positions
("Hop Fung GM") (Notes 1 and 4)
RASEEME 3,000,000k 5K EE
BRAA 1B BREFRELR
(T582H]) iF8 ke (M1 R4)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung GM Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
FRTRA AYLE trust / interest of controlled deferred shares of

corporations
RRETETA/
REERER

HK$1 each

Long and short positions

(Notes 1 and 4)
3,000,000 K E(E

BT BRERELR

78 Rxe (1 Ra)
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EERKRG  HERORBEZ 2ER
(#)

(a) B1D(4)

Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HERTRA
EEps KRR/ HBEEER 5% B5EERER BHEAL
Mr.Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1 and 4) -
SRREE AEDH corporation / short &1 k4)
position of a controlled
corporation
RiEEEER
REEEKE
Mr. Wong Wing Por Hop Fung GM Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1 and 4) —
TEREE AELH corporation a(frE1ka)
XhERER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Fung Kong Hop Fung Interest of controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
SRELE Paper Ware Factory corporations deferred shares of
Limited RIDERER HK$1 each
(“Hop Fung FG”) Long and short positions
BHALERE (Notes 1, 4 and 5)
BBRAH 3,000,000R 5 R AR
(TR8REE]) BT BRERELR
i RKE (51 - 41%5)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung FG Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
SRTEE RERME trust / interest of controlled deferred shares of
corporations HK$1 each
RRETETA/ Long and short positions
HzEER (Notes 1, 4 and 5)

3,000,000 5REE
BT ERZRELR
Fe LKA (M1 - 4R5)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

EERKRG  HERORBEZ 2HER

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued) (&)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) B3 (#)
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of director corporation Capacity class of securities HEBRTRE
32 KRR/ EBEEER 5% B5HERER BOEL
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung FG Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1, 4 and b) —
AHRERE AEEM corporation / short £ (M1 4%5)
position of a controlled
corporation
RREEER/
REEERE
Mr. Wong Wing Por Hop Fung FG Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1, 4 and b) —
TRREE AEEH corporation / short & (MizE1 - 4]5)
position of a controlled
corporation
REEEER
REEERE
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Applewood Forest Founder of a discretionary 1 share of US$1 100%
HRERA Limited trust Long position (Notes 1 and 6)
2EEFEA 1RAEEIETZRH
& (Hi1R6)
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Profit Luck Limited Founder of a discretionary 100 shares of HK$1 100%
SRELE FIEER LT trust Long position (Notes 1, 6 and 7)
REEFEA 100 BREEET 2 KR
8 (W& 6R7)
Notes: B 5

1. The 252,000,000 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries.
The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned as to
78.86%, 12.57% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Industries BVI, Delight
Ocean Limited (“Delight”) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

1. 252,000,000 8% 1) FAHop Fung Industries#
A ° Hop Fung Industries2 #1778 A% Bl HHop
Fung Industries BVI » Delight Ocean Limited
(TDelight]) R FT AR R EHH78.86% * 12.57%
$%8.57% °
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EEZ=RKR© - AEROKESF 2 #HE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued) (%)

(a) B1D(4)
i3« (45)

(a) Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned as
to 11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok,
Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Fullwood Holdings Limited ("Fullwood"”) and
Goldspeed Holdings Limited (“Goldspeed”) respectively. Fullwood
is wholly owned by Pinecity Investments Limited (“Pinecity”) and
Pinecity is wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited
("HSBC") in its capacity as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004
Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui
Sum Kwok and the discretionary objects of which include family
members of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok. Goldspeed is wholly owned by
Goldkeen Assets Management Limited (“Goldkeen"”) and Goldkeen
is wholly owned by HSBC in its capacity as the trustee of HSP
2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of which is
Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which include
family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping will be deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

Delight is wholly owned by Richfaith Assets Management
Limited (“Richfaith”) and Richfaith is wholly owned by HSBC
in its capacity as the trustee of Wong's 2004 Family Trust, a
discretionary trust the founder of which is Mr. Wong Wing Por
and the discretionary objects of which include family members
of Mr. Wong Wing Por.

Hop Fung Industries is a holding company of the Company and
therefore an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is
US$100 divided into 10,000 shares of US$0.01 each which is
owned as to 7,886, 1,257 and 857 shares by Hop Fung Industries
BVI, Delight and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. Under the SFO,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed
to be interested in the 7,886 shares of US$0.01 each and Mr.
Wong Wing Por is deemed to be interested in the 1,257 shares
of US$0.01 each in Hop Fung Industries.

Hop Fung Industries BVIZ B 3#1TR A Bl H
FFRREISEA - RFAR SR - Fullwood Holdings
Limited ([Fullwood]) K Goldspeed Holdings
Limited ([ Goldspeed |)#H11.81% ~ 11.81% -
38.19% % 38.19% ° FullwoodHPinecity
Investments Limited ([Pinecity |) & & #
A+ MPinecity@HSBC International Trustee
Limited (THSBCJ) BAHui & Wong 2004 Family
TustEREAZE D2 EHA - Zf5ER—E
2REERE - HASZARHRBELE - 2RER
HREIEFHREGCEZRIEKE ° Goldspeed
A Goldkeen Assets Management Limited
([Goldkeen]) 2 & ¥4 - MGoldkeentAHSBC
PAHSP 2004 Family TrustRstAZ FH2EH
B ZERA/—EEEET R ARTHR
FRE 2RERVREEARTEEZRK
BB - Bt - RIBEES KSR - FREL
RS A S B AR A H 7%262,000,000
&R fn 2t o o

DelightfRichfaith Assets Management
Limited ([Richfaith |) 2 & ## - fRichfaith
HHSBCMAWong' s 2004 Family Trust¥&E
AZED2ERE - ZEAR/—BE2REER
HAZARERRESE  2REXHEREEE
KM FEZKIEKE °

Hop Fung Industries AN A B Z 2R A E]
RURIEESRBAEKE - BADRZ B
%M@ o Hop Fung IndustriesZ 2202 21T
A 731005 7T+ 9 /310,0008% & A% H 150.01
XLz B%m 0 » Bl HEHop Fung Industries
BVI  Delight R FF#rZ= 5L £ # 57,886 ~ 1,257
K87l - BIEFHF LB EKD - FTHRE
SHERFHRFLRESHEE A EHop Fung
Industries 7,886 @ AXEE0.01E= T M 2
Ra o M ERRSEERIWR BEEHop Fung
Industries 1,257 EAREE0.01ETRMD 2
T o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EEZ=RKR© - AEROKESF 2 #HE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued) (%)

(a) B (&)
MisE - (&)

(a) Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

44

Hop Fung Industries BVl is a holding company of Hop Fung Industries
and therefore an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI
is US$100 divided into 10,000 shares of US$0.01 each which is
owned as to 1,181, 1,181, 3,819 and 3,819 shares by Mr. Hui Sum
Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively.
Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping
is interested and/or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
5,000 shares of US$0.01 each in Hop Fung Industries BVI.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire
issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100 divided
into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are beneficially owned by
Hop Fung Group (HK) Limited (“Hop Fung Group HK") which is
owned as to 78.86%, 12.57% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Holdings
Limited (“Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)"), Mr. Wong Wing Por and
Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Holdings (BVI) is owned
as to 50%, 11.81% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping and Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, each
of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1
each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop Fung
Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group Company
Limited (“Hop Fung Group (BVI)"), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, an option to purchase from them such 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is
deemed to have a short position in the underlying shares of the
option granted under the option deed pursuant to the SFO.

Hop Fung Industries BVIJjHop Fung
IndustriesZ R AR - B BIEEFH X5
ERG - BARAE 2 EEAE - Hop Fung
Industries BVIZ & & £ % 17 l& X A100
E 7T 5 410,000/ & fk H E0.01E T 2
R DRIBFRBEEE FRFEXE
Fullwood X Goldspeed# &1,181 + 1,181 »
3,819K3,819k « RIEEF R E KM - 7F
HRERERTRIFLERE R/IERAES
Hop Fung Industries BVI& 5,000 &%
E{E0.01E TR 2 % -

AENEDNARRZHBAR @ FILRIEESH
REEEY  BAARZEEEE - ALEA
A2 2B TR A3,000,100%8 7T 24
1008 & I H (5178 7T 2 & @R 3,000,000
BEREDEIETZEREEEER - Z
3,000,000k BREMBEIE T & EAHPKIEK
ERETREEGLEEE(EB)AERRAIA
LEEEEDEEA MALEEBHA
5 BlfEHop Fung Holdings Limited ([Hop
Fung Holdings (BVI)]) + F&E 4 KT s
THHEHEATS.86%  12.67%K%8.57% °

Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)Z BE# TR A5 7
RFFRE LA « R F &4 RGoldspeedi® A
50% - 11.81% %38.19% - RIEEFH R E
HHl - FARERERTRTEEEWRERERS
% A 853,000,000/ F R E B 178 T E R R E
IR 2 #E % o

BEBBHAZSZ=FNATHLAZERE
g AUEEEBRAERBARARAZ
% & [ff B A "]Hop Fung Group Company
Limited ([Hop Fung Group (BVI) ) # HB&A
T DA 5 B3,000,0000% G EE 1S
TZEYRREREERIER - Bt - RIEFE
HFRBEED - HREGERIRTFEETH
RAERABRBEREZBMELERESRZ
ARG ZKE -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EEZ=RKR© - AEROKESF 2 #HE

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued) (%)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) B (4)
Notes: (continued) fiaE - (&)

Hop Fung FG is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire
issued share capital of Hop Fung FG is HK$3,000,100 divided
into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG are beneficially owned by
Hop Fung Group HK. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok
and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop Fung
Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group (BVI) an
option to purchase from them such 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to have a short
position in the underlying shares of the option granted under the
option deed pursuant to the SFO.

Applewood Forest Limited (“Applewood”) is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. The entire issued share capital of
Applewood is US$1 comprises 1 share of US$1 which is owned
by HSBC in its capacity as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family
Trust. Applewood is an associated corporation of the Company
under the SFO. Under the SFO, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is deemed
to be interested in the 1 share of US$1 in Applewood owned by
HSBC in its capacity as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family
Trust.

Profit Luck Limited (“Profit”) is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The entire issued share capital of Profit is HK$100
comprises 100 shares of HK$1 each which is indirectly owned by
HSBC through its wholly owned subsidiary, Applewood. Details
of Applewood are set out in note 6 above.

AUBEMDARRZHEBAR @ AULREFES
REIE A BA AR Z B8
2 2 EE TR AN A3,000,1008 T © 95
10008 & A& M {E 178 T 2 & i % 123,000,000
RERDEIETZERERBEITER - 2
3,000,000k BRREEIE T2 A LR EER
ERECRBELEERBERAEAR - RIBEF
H RS ED] - FRRE L L KRR TR AR
B A%EE3,000,000EREEISTZEE
Bl I IR AR 2 A

cAYE

REBMA-TSE=F N \A+hBZERE
g ELEEFERERE AMRHop Fung
Group BVNE L ERE - UMK FEE
3,000,000k BREEBEIE T2 A LR EER
ERBELER - Ft - BIBES REEERD - 7
RESERARFEEIRR ARG REER
R AR L AR S R 2 MR 2 KA -

Applewood Forest Limited ([ Applewood )
DTREBRERBEESEEMEKLZ XA
Applewood 2z 2EEEITRABIETT © BIF
TREEIETZRG - Z KRR M BEHSBCI
Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust2stAZ &
DA o RIBEFEF R EE KGN - Applewood
BARARZIEBZE - RIBEEZFFHF RBHEK
B FHRELEEREREAHAHSBCHUAHUI &
Wong 2004 Family Trust2stAGHD#E 2
Applewood 1RREE1ETTRG 2 e o

MEARABTFED IR EEZTMAK L2
REle FlHZ 2 HEHITRAARI00E T
2 A100REREEIS T ZRH + HHSBC
ERHEE2EWE QAT ApplewoodMZEHA ©
ApplewoodZ FFIE A £ XX Hi7E6 °
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in
share options of the Company are set out in the Section
headed “Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2008.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December, 2008, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that the following shareholders had notified the Company
of relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital
of the Company:

EERKRG  HERORBEZ 2HER
(%)

(b) FERR%E

EENBEEZHEALIRARRBREZIE
A BRI B[ Rt | — A o

BEXHEEN RZBENF+_RA=+—
A BFEREEFZBBEATIBRERARB LA
I AREE A B 2 E A AR HESFTHEE
EfEmRE

FERR

RZBZNF+-A=+—B ARAREES
RHERMFBHREFZEBZRREMEBETR
UTHRREMSGARBAREFEARABEITR
Rz BEERRRE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity issued shares held Note(s) HERTRA
REEH/ /1% &% BREBRTRAHA i3 BOEAL
Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 252,000,000 1 52.18%
ExBA
Hop Fung Industries BVI Interest of a controlled corporation 252,000,000 1,2 52.18%
XpERER
Fullwood Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,234 52.18%
REEEER
Pinecity Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,2,3 4 52.18%
XpERER
Goldspeed Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,235 52.18%

REEEER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERE)
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity issued shares held Note(s) HERTRA
RELE/#E &% BEERTRAHE Wiz RO
Goldkeen Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,2,3,5 52.18%
L o
HSBC Trustee of discretionary trust/interest of 252,000,000 1,2,8,4,5 52.18%
controlled corporations
RREEREHA/ZREERS
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner/founder of a discretionary trust/interest 260,538,000 1,2,8,4,6 53.95%
TREEE of controlled corporations/interest of spouse
BB N/ 2RERE AR EEES R #5
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner/founder of a discretionary 258,694,000 1,2,357 53.57%
TRTEAE trust/interest of controlled corporations
ERBAA/RRETALA/RIEERER
Montpelier Asset Investment manager 29,744,000 — 6.16%
Management Limited RELE
Goverment of Singapore Investment Manager 24,234,000 - 5.02%
Investment Corporation REQE
Pte Ltd
Notes: B 5
1. The 252,000,000 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries. 1. #%252,000,000/%f& 15 BEHop Fung Industries#
5o

2. Theissued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned as to 78.86%, 2. Hop Fung IndustriesZ 2 {7 A fHop Fung
Industries BVI - Delight &7 FEE£5H Bl A
78.86% ~ 12.57%}28.57% * i 1R % & F R Hi &
&) - Hop Fung Industries BVI % A& % B %
252,000,000/ & 2 # % ©

12.57% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Industries BVI, Delight and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai respectively and Hop Fung Industries BVI is deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned as to
11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping, Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively.

4. The entire issued share capital of Fullwood is indirectly held by HSBC
through its 100% controlled corporation, Pinecity in its capacity as
the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the
founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and the discretionary objects
of which include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok. Accordingly,
each of Fullwood, Pinecity, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is deemed
to be interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

5. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by HSBC
through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its capacity as
the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder
of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of
Goldspeed, Goldkeen, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

6. Of 260,538,000 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in 500,000
shares in the Company and is deemed to be interested in 260,038,000
shares under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, a
director of the Company.

7. Ms. Jian Jian Yi is deemed to be interested in 258,694,000 shares
under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a director
of the Company.

FERR#E)
MIsE : (&)

Hop Fung Industries BVIZ B #1745 5l H 7
FHE LA FFHRF L - Fullwood K Goldspeed#
A11.81% * 11.81% * 38.19% &38.19% °

FullwoodZ 2 #8 B B 1TIR A MHSBCEBH100%
5 4% 5% EPinecitybAHui & Wong 2004 Family
Trust2sEAZ F D HEERA ° Hui & Wong 2004
Family Trust/h —HH 2 #{E:T RAIZAAFHR
BdkE MEEETHRBETRELEZRK
KB - Bt - BIEESRBEED - Fullwood
Pinecity - HSBCRFAHBELE AWRASEARZ
252,000,000/ & fn 2 # % ©

Goldspeedz 2 #B & 3 7 Bk 7~ lAHSBCE i &
100% % #% 3% B GoldkeenAHSP 2004 Family
TrustZ A FHREEFE - HSP 2004 Family
Trusth —H2BEEFE EAZARTRTEL
o MERGEREHREEARTEEZRER
BBt BEFHFLHAEHKSH - Goldspeed »
Goldkeen ~ HSBC R &FAF 5t £ & B MR BHE %
252,000,000/ & 5 2 # % ©

260,538,000 - ER LT EEFEAR
F]500,0000 R D - URBAREARRARES
AIARBEE ARG RIEFFRMERD -
418 B A 7%260,038,0000% A2 1 2 #EES ©

RIEFEHRBAEEN  ARERELXLTARARE
EHRTEECESB SRELTIRBEREEZ
258,694,000 i 1 2 # 75 ©

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified B EXEEEIN RZZEZNF+ A=+ —
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued H @ AABWEEFTMEMATRARADE
share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2008. TRAPHEEEBERSIAR




HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZERAER AR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed shares during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate. In addition, save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors, their spouse or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or had exercised any such right during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2008, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than 15% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 58% of the
Group's total purchases and the purchase attributable to the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 29% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company's share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 —EF/\ £ &K

BE HEIELEQRT LHRH

ARBREFEAMBRBALERNFARE  BED
SHEARFUER LT

BEROIESF 2LH

B bR - mEEIN - KRR - HAEM[
ERAR - ARMBRARNMERRLERFR
FEARESETIEMRE  BEARBESA
FEBREARRREMEMEABRZ RN RE
FMEa o s BREXWEEIN  EBF - RE
FEEZEBRTNARNT FRIPEERINER
TEEMAIRBEARRE R ZER -

EEREZAN RS

B M BIEMEN A 2R B - KRR
H AL BB A R AT SLE MR A F E ek ok
FAEMERDAEIMARREETNETEE
HEEFREEAREZERAL

FEFEFRHER

REE-_ZTTNF+_A=+—HILFE %
BRAREFPZEREARGAERBEEELIRL
15% °

AEERAHER BERS AN AEEREER
BEAIB8%  MAKERAMER ZBEEHAMAEAR
SEBEBEN29% -

BEE HBMZALHNEEMAEEALAR
A5% A EZBRRMBEAEE AL ARRER T
BEMHER
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any transactions
with any connected persons.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to approximately HK$600,000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “"CG Code") as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended
31st December, 2008, except with the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

e  Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be clearly established and set out in writing.

e Thereis no written terms on division of responsibilities between
the chairman and the chief executive officer. The Directors
consider that the responsibilities of the chairman and chief
executive officer respectively are clear and distinctive and
hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

Code Provision A.4.2

e Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after their appointment.

e |n accordance with the Company's Articles of Association,
Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy are subject to
re-election at next annual general meeting.
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EFERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) YNEIR-P-1¢ )

Code Provision B.1.3 <F Al X B.1.31%

e A major deviation from the code provision B.1.3 is that the * FZZREBER/TRIKXB.1.3 EFHRELRR
Remuneration Committee of the Company review and make AFMEEgERITEZ(MIRaRE
recommendations to the Directors on the remuneration BE)ZFHNARETRI RAESELE
packages of the Executive Directors only but not senior * o
management.

e Currently, the remuneration of senior management is attendedby ¢ BAl G 2AEEEBZHMBA B ER L
the chairman and/or chief executive officer of the Company. RITHAER R -

PUBLIC FLOAT NEEFRE

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company IREXAARRFAFSZENERERMM  HA
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the &R > KRR ED26% 2 BEITRAETET)
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as HRXFALHEE -

at the date of this report.

AUDITOR ZEEm
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu have acted as auditor of the 2% e &G E5HAIIT B A ARG MK LA
Company since its incorporation. R —EEERDTZEED o

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general ZARFAHREERRBEAGRSEZEEY o
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor ~ BERT GETAIIT AR R BIZEAD 2 RHSE -
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board REESEE
Hui Sum Kwok ES-
Chairman HHRE

22nd April, 2009 ZETAFWA=+=H
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop
Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to
130, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st
December, 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB AR &

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December,
2008 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22nd April, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
mEWER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
HE-ZZN\F+_A=+—HILFE

2008 2007
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
{hr=g FHET T
Revenue & 7 1,033,152 925,533
Cost of sales SHE B AR (835,341) (713,899)
Gross profit EH 197,811 211,634
Other income E A 8 20,734 18,526
Selling and distribution costs SHE R HA A (46,843) (45,355)
Administrative expenses THAX (62,198) (58,491)
Other expenses H (22,445) (24,686)
Finance costs B 75 P AR 9 (11,869) (6,837)
Change in fair value of unsecured EIEMLEFEE
structured borrowing ANEEZEE 23 (7,157) 9,762
Changes in fair value of derivative #T4£&@mTE
financial instruments NEEZEE) (20,331) 10,561
Profit before taxation 4 Al A1 47,702 115,114
Taxation 18 10 (6,270) (3,370)
Profit for the year F 2 A HE 11 41,432 111,744
Dividends paid BERRE 13 20,864 27,776
HK cents HK cents
AL il
Earnings per share BIREF 14
- basic — &K 8.58 24.85

— diluted — s EA 24.57
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GEAEARRR
AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
R-TENFt=A=+—8

SEERBERAR

2008 2007
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R EE 15 1,098,640 794,645
Prepaid lease payments on 4 fF A RE TR A & IR
land use rights 16 34,854 35,347
Deposits paid for the BEWE BEXR
acquisition of property, RERHEI 2
plant and equipment - 52,621
1,133,494 882,613
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 17 65,631 191,998
Trade and other receivables Z 5 K& H b U GRIE 18 115,419 131,425
Deposits and prepayments Ee kIR K 10,537 19,816
Prepaid lease payments + s A RE TR AR & R IE
on land use rights 16 809 809
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 19 706 2,141
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIRE 20 254,795 153,735
447,897 499,924
Current liabilities REEE
Trade, bills and other payables 25  ZEBRRHEMEMNRE 21 102,788 114,645
Taxation payable FERIFETE 18,995 17,471
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 19 24,547 1,218
Unsecured bank borrowings ERFRITEE 22 282,974 236,848
Unsecured structured borrowing EIRHREEER 23 7,750 7.800
437,054 377,982
Net current assets REBEEFE 10,843 121,942
Total assets less BREERRDER
current liabilities 1,144,337 1,004,555
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEAERRR

AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
R=ZENF+=A=+—R

2008 2007
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 FHET T T
Capital and reserves BRAER &
Share capital (%N 24 48,292 48,292
Share premium and reserves B 19 5 (B & (% 723,785 695,450
Total equity AR 772,077 743,742
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Unsecured bank borrowings ERRRITEE 22 338,685 230,914
Unsecured structured borrowing EIRREEEER 23 25,325 26,069
Deferred taxation IRIE R A 25 8,250 3,830
372,260 260,813
1,144,337 1,004,555

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 130 were RFLAFIBOEZHZEMBREEN=_ZZT
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22nd A FMHA-Z+—_BEESSHEREEE

April, 2009 and are signed on its behalf by: K UWHTINEERRESE :
DIRECTOR £%# DIRECTOR £%

HUI SUM KWOK #FF#%El HUI SUM PING FF#&F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEREPTR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

HE-ZTZN\F+_A=+—HILFE

Share
Share Share Special Translation  options Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total

BAE  ROBE HARE ENLRE BRERE REAE @it

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

TAT THT AT TAT TAT FAT THT
(note)

GBS

At 1st January, 2007 RZZZ+F—F—H 42,390 262,303 (107444 4,197 2,655 280,095 484,096

Exchange differences R B HER
arising on translation BMEBNER
of foreign operations EHER
recognised directly

in equity - - - 4,046 - - 4,046
Profit for the year EEAE - - - - - 111,744 111,744
Total recognised income FEEARALE

for the year - - - 4,046 - 111,744 115,790
Recognition of BANBEEE

equity-settled MRS 5.2 Z it

share-based payments - - - - 5,206 - 5,206
Exercise of share options {7{ &K 1,662 20,971 - - (2,555) = 20,078
Proceeds on placing of  EL&# K

new shares PSR 4,240 146,280 - - - - 150,520
Share issue expenses on EE#HKHZ

placing of new shares BT - (4,172) - - - - (4,172)
Final dividend paid BER=ZZTSNE

in respect of 2006 REKS = = = = = (19,669) (19,669)
Interim dividend paid ER=FSLF

in respect of 2007 FERR S - - - - - (8,107) (8,107)

At 31st December, 2007 R-ET+LF
+-A=1+—"8 48,292 425,382 (107,444) 8,243 5,206 364,063 743,742

Exchange differences RERBEEER
arising on translation BEBINER
of foreign operations ZEXER
recognised directly

in equity - - - 4,181 - - 4,181
Profit for the year FEAE - - - - - 41,432 41,432
Total recognised income ~ EE AW E%E

for the year - - - 4,181 - 41,432 45,613
Recognition of MERARELEE

equity-settled PABRAD X A+

share-based payments 2 ifi - - - - 3,586 - 3,586
Final dividend paid BER-ZE+E

in respect of 2007 RERR 8 = = = - - (20,864) (20,864)

At 31st December, 2008 R-ZTN\#F
+=A=+—H 48,292 425,382 (107,444) 12,424 8,792 384,631 772,077
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEEREHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
BE_ZTT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

Note: B3 -

Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of investments  FRlEHEAATDRKEBE AR 2 IREKRKAEE HE L4
in subsidiaries of the Company and the aggregate amount of the non-voting @mBERAFRARELHERBERA A ERZERT
deferred share capital of Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited MBRA#BELRA ST =F5ESHEMUBEZHMNERRZ
and Gong Ming Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited and the nominal FRANEEZ Z% °

value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result of the

group reorganisation in 2003.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GEBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
HE-ZTZN\F+_A=+—HILFE

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Operating activities RESER
Profit before taxation DI RN 47,702 115,114
Adjustments for: BAEH AT A% :
Finance costs 7% K AR 11,869 6,837
(Reversal of) impairment (=) & 5 M WGRIE
losses on trade receivables R EEE (2,910) 2,056
Write-down of inventories WiEFE 13,275 =
Depreciation of property, M - BE R
plant and equipment RENE 46,858 34,652
Release of prepaid lease J [0 + b {50 R
payments on land use rights TR HEHIE 493 493
Interest income FEUW A (652) (2,751)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment REEE 8 285
Share-based payment expense LARR A =z i 3,586 5,206
Changes in fair value of derivative TSR T A
financial instruments NEEZES 20,331 (10,561)
Change in fair value of EIEREREE
unsecured structured REEZES)
borrowing 7,157 (9,762)
Operating cash flows before MENE £ EBA
movements in working capital BERENE 147,717 141,569
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA GG m) 113,092 (112,548)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 RkHE MR
other receivables RIER A (35 00) 18,916 (14,446)
Decrease (increase) in deposits B RFEM K
and prepayments A () 9,279 (11,483)
(Decrease) increase in trade, B5 ZERREMER
bills and other payables IO A )38 N (11,857) 29,821
Settlement of derivative DTESRMT ALY @ JF5
financial instruments, net 4,433 5,007
Cash generated from operations BEELEZRS 281,580 37,920
Income tax paid B EE (326) (1,168)

Net cash from operating activities E& EHEL RS THE 281,254 36,752
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HERERER

CREERERAR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE-TT\FI-A=+—HILFE

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Investing activities REEH
Purchases of property, plant and IWHEYI 2 - BB
equipment NG (290,571) (440,102)
Interest received B FIE 652 2,751
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME BEK&
plant and equipment BRSSO 396 216
Increase in deposits paid for BEWE  BER
the acquisition of property, RABEFTTET 2 AN
plant and equipment - (52,621)
Increase in prepaid lease T EAERNEE
payments on land use rights SKIEIE N - (13,494)
Net cash used in investing RETEHEAZRESTE
activities (289,523) (503,250)
Financing activities BMEEH
New bank loans raised FILRITEE 242,954 214,400
Bank advances drawn B RITBR 407,770 =
(Decrease) increase in ERBIRER
trust receipt loans (R ) 38 n (100,333) 120,470
Net proceeds on issue of BATH R D FR 15 5008
new shares FE - 166,426
Repayment of bank loans BERITEE (113,383) (66,246)
Repayment of bank advances EEIBITRK (283,111) =
Repayment of unsecured BEREEREEREE
structured borrowing (7,951) (7,560)
Dividends paid BRI O (20,864) (27,776)
Interest paid B FE (18,748) (15,049)
Net cash from MEFTHEEZ
financing activities Re&FE 106,334 384,665
Net increase (decrease) in cash BEE&RBESZEEEM
and cash equivalents CRi2) #88 98,065 (81,833)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HRERBELEE
at 1st January, 153,735 231,605
Effect of foreign exchange ExgsooE
rate changes 2,995 3,963
Cash and cash equivalents R+t=—A=+—H&E=%
at 31st December, RREZEE
represented by bank balances SRITHEBR LIRS
and cash 254,795 153,735
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HFEMBBRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE—ZT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
parent is Hop Fung Industries Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and its ultimate holding company
is Hop Fung Industries (Holdings) Limited, a company also
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed under Corporate Information section
of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 32.

. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs"”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Reclassification of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC) - Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and

Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC) = Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

—RER
RARRBREBERSHES A E2EREDE(—
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HEXMAZRERRERAR - HROR
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ZHop Fung Industries Limited @ & 42
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEVBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
BE-TT\FI-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) - Int 9 &

HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 13
HK(IFRIC) - Int 15
HK(IFRIC) - Int 16
HK(IFRIC) - Int 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs'
Presentation of Financial Statements?
Borrowing Costs?

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements®
Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation?
Eligible Hedged Items?®

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate?

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations?
Business Combinations?®

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments?

Operating Segments?

Embedded Derivatives*

Customer Loyalty Programmes?®

Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate?

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation®

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners?®

Transfers of Assets from Customers’

2. MABEEITZERYBREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HFEMBBRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE—ZT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW OR REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2009 except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2009

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July,
2009

& Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30th June, 2009

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July,
2008

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st October,
2008

7 Effective for transfers on or after 1st July, 2009

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group's
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1st January, 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will
affect the accounting treatment for changes in the Group's
ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of the other new or
revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position
of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GFEMBHRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE_ZTT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHBER @)
(continued)
Basis of consolidation BEEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset, excluding financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss, is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE_ZZNF+_A=+—HBILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEEFEE#®

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings
held for use in the production or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation and amortisation are provided to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own
use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the consolidated income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
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BE_ZTT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTTEE®)
(continued)
Impairment losses on tangible assets BEREERERE

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as income immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable

to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HFEMBBRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEEFHEE#®)

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets comprise financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL" ) and loans and
receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets designated
as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in changes
in fair value of derivative financial instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EE:BE %)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMIE &)
Financial assets (continued) BIBEE &)

Effective interest method (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for
trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

e itis apart of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTEE®)
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) EMIA#E)
Financial assets (continued) BBEEHE)
Impairment of financial assets B % & E R E

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group's past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the credit period ranged 5-150
days, other observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of

its liabilities. The Group’'s financial liabilities are generally
classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial
liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEEFHEE#®)

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liability designated as at FVTPL,
of which the interest expense is included in changes in fair
value of derivative financial instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL has two subcategories, including
financial liabilities held for trading and those designated at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

e itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if it forms part a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL. Accordingly,
the Group has designated its structured borrowing that
contains one or more embedded derivatives as a financial
liability at FVTPL.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade, bills and other payables
and unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FTESHBE#)
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRMIEE)
Embedded derivatives HERNEITET A

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated
as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will continue to be held in share options reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease classification,
unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, in which case, the entire lease
is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as

property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of
the lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests
in land are accounted for as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FTESHBE#)
(continued)
Taxation BiE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FTESHBE®)
(continued)
Taxation (continued) BiE(E)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
as a separate component of equity (the translation reserve).
Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which a foreign operation is disposed of.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHBEE®)
(continued)
Borrowing costs BERE

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. THBERZEERF @)

(continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Fair values of derivative and other financial
instruments

Foreign exchange forward contracts are carried at the balance
sheet at fair value, as disclosed in note 19. The best evidence
of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. Where quoted
prices are not available, the Group takes into account the
probability of triggering exchange rate to the leverage on the
notional amount to estimate the fair value and other relevant
observable market inputs. The use of methodologies, models
and assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial assets
and liabilities is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgment by management, which may result in significantly
different fair values and results.

For unsecured structured borrowing, details are set out in
notes 6(a) and 23.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management estimates
the useful lives of various categories of property, plant and
equipment according to their experiences over the usage of
property, plant and equipment and also by reference to the
relevant industrial norm.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 22 and 23, net of
cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

REHH  BREAREZMRER A AR
AEATHAPEARZEMEZRRAT - ZF
SRFEEM T —MRFEEERAERA
EFFARNEARR

PTETARHMEMTIAZAFE

NPT EE19PT IR - EAIMNE R R IR A FE
FRABERER - ATEZEERER/RA
BMSH 2 ME - WMAEISHRE ~EEH
EERPAEXFHERS R AR ERE
A BRTISEIE - UFEELQTE - 3
EeMEERBBEERMGERMRAZT
% BARBRBEEIEGE  UFEREE
HE TIZE Z B - AR A B e S
REATRZRAFERER -

FREBERGEEEZFE  BRXHTR6()
%23 -

ME BERRFBEZTRAFEH

ERERBEREERME  BEEREBIE
RIS ERBITERNE - BE RREEF
R EREZ @ BRI GRS EME - |
Rz AT R o

EXEmERE

RERASEET S EARATEESAELE
AEEHHEAETER  WEBEREKR
BAEBREFE R ARRISRAE R -

AEENEAEBEEREZRERESEE
B EBFHE(ERBEME22R23MEE
ZEE) UARAARREREAEGER
(BREBBITRARMEE)




HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SEEEERERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBERRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008
BE—ZT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

EXRBRERE®)

ARBEFTERMABEARRERE - (FERMTH
—#n BEEEEBEEESRARERERN
HERR - REEZNER  AKEKEE
ISR S - BATHA - BE AR A REITH
BIRREERAEER  EAFEREEAR

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the

payment of dividends and new share issues and share buy- o
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. EMTITH

(a) @M T A2 %5

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT T
Financial assets R EE
Fair value through profit or A RAFEEFABEE
loss (FVTPL) ([AAFEFAB=EE])
Derivative financial instruments TEEMTAE 706 2,141
Loans and receivables (including B K U GRIE
cash and cash equivalents) (BRERASEBESEE) 370,214 278,499
370,920 280,640
Financial liabilities HEEE
Fair value through profit or loss AAFEFABRR
(FVTPL) ([ARFEFABEEK])
Derivative financial instruments MEemIEA 24,547 1,218
Unsecured structured borrowing EIRREEER
(see below) (R0 33,075 33,869
Amortised cost B H R AR 724,447 582,407
782,069 617,494
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMITH#®)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) (a) €M T A 28R (&)
Unsecured structured borrowing (note) B EEEER ()
2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Difference between carrying amount BEEEEZ|E B # FEE
and outstanding principal amount ZARERBRCSE I ERE
to be paid at maturity:

Carrying amount measured BAFENEZREE
at fair value 33,075 33,869
Amount payable at maturity FH R EMN (23,314) (31,265)
9,761 2,604
Note:  The change in fair value was mainly due to change in Mz : ATFEFZERMSEAREXZIHM
market risk factors. The fair value attributable to change 2y MEERBRZHHITEZ
in its credit risk is considered immaterial. FBAER -
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BRI EE B ERBE
policies
The Group’'s major financial instruments include trade AEBEZFEZCRTAREZE S REM
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, derivative JEUGRIE - RITHEBREES TES/
financial instruments, trade, bills and other payables, TAE -EB5 EBRREMERMNKE-
unsecured bank borrowings and unsecured structured EERRITEEREERERBEER - %
borrowing. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed ZEMIAZHBHRNSEAMEA -
in respective notes. The risks associated with these ZEemIT AW Rk ERSETSER
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk (BEBRRRFERR) EERRERT
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The BERER - TXHIBFERZZRR 2
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. B BEEEEERERZERR  #
The management manages and monitors these exposures R 3 BE TN 78 2 b BR B & FE B o

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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6. SR T H %)
(b) IBEMEEEERBE &)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

5 B 2
ShEE ) i B HE
FITEINEEREERREAE

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

(i)

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and (i)

monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group's sales is denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB") and HKD and significant portion
of the Group’'s purchases is denominated in RMB
and United States dollars (“USD"). The Group's
manufacturing operations are located in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. Certain bank balances, trade
receivables, derivative financial instruments, trade,
bills and other payables, unsecured bank borrowings
and unsecured structured borrowing are denominated
in the foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.
The management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and manages it by entering into certain forward foreign
exchange contracts as set out in note 19.

At the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities

AEBEERIMOEEUAARE (A
REDRAETINE  MARREK
MORBIAARE RET(E
L) FIME » AEEZ ZLERBR
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REE 2 KB A R PAIMNEELT
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B EEEHINERRETER
Wi BT M FE19PT 8 2 & F =
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REER  AEBEAEREEER
FBEYEEBAINZINEIENE

denominated in currencies other than the respective BEERERBECREMBENT :

functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE 88

2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

TE T FHET THET T

RMB AR 148,756 15,079 132,871 7,273

HKD BT 25,675 - 1,175 -

UsD E7T 14,908 23,007 63,298 57,004

Other EAh 4 1,901 - -
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6. ST H#)
(b) BIBEMREEEERBEE)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the foreign currency exposure in relation to the
HKD and USD exchange rate fluctuation is not significant
as HKD is pegged to USD. For this reason, the sensitivity
analysis below does not reflect this.

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact relates
to monetary assets or liabilities that are denominated in
RMB or HKD against the functional currencies of relevant
group entities, HKD or RMB respectively.

In relation to monetary assets, where the functional
currency of the relevant group entity strengthens 5%
against the currency in which the assets are denominated,
there would be a decrease in profit for the year. However,
in relation to monetary liabilities, where the functional
currency of the relevant group entity strengthens 5%
against the currency in which the liabilities are denominated,
there would be an increase in profit for the year. A 5%
weakening of the functional currency would have an equal
but opposite impact on the profit for the year.

i E R ()
SE R EHE (4E)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TR TE %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEREAKREEAZEREE &)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 R ()
Foreign currency risk management (continued) SNVER 2 EHE ()
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued) INEBRRE D AT (4B)
RMB Impact HKD Impact
ARBZEE B2
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT TET FHT
Decrease in profit R R 794 390 1,225 -
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is EEERR  BRFRERRI 6 R
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk FRAZEK  BHHEESTAETIREE
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure B HYINE R ©

during the year.

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts (i) =EAINES L
During the year, the Group has entered into several FR - AEEBERITITZLZEHE
foreign exchange forward contracts with banks, details HIONES 4 - FFIE BB HIEE19 o
are disclosed in note 19. These derivatives are not ZEMET AW RAE PG EFHEA
accounted for under hedge accounting. The Group Bk - NEBRSHEEHAEHRBRN
is required to estimate the fair value of the foreign EaHzATEELMG  #m<
exchange forward contracts at each balance sheet AEEEERINE RS

date, which therefore exposed the Group to foreign
currency risk.

The directors consider that the exposure of HKD EEZRA ARNBTHEHETHEE -
against USD is limited as HKD is pegged to USD. BB TRBRETZELRBRER
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Foreign exchange forward contracts (continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to the Group's forward exchange
rate risk for contracts of RMB against USD at the
reporting date.

If the forward exchange rate of RMB against USD had
been 5% higher/lower while all other input variables
of the valuation models were held constant, the
Group's profit for the year would decrease/increase
by HK$5,400,000/ HK$2,893,000 respectively (2007:
Nil).

In the management’s opinion, the above sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
currency exposure. An unexpectedly large weakening
in RMB against USD may result in the Group suffering
from a further losses. Details of the terms of the
leveraged foreign exchange forward contracts are
set out in Note 19.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note
22 for details of these borrowings). The management
monitors the interest rate exposure and manages it
by entering into certain interest rate swaps contracts
(see note 19 for details of these interest rate swaps
contracts).

6. 2RIT R %)
(b) EEAKMEEEERKE (&)

i E R ()

(ii)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

In respect of the structured borrowing, the repayment
amounts are based on the spread rates between 10-year
USS$-International Swaps and Derivatives Association
(“ISDA") — Swap Rate and 2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate,
the entire borrowing is designated as fair value through
profit or loss as disclosed in note 23.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, and
prevailing interest rates offered by the People’s Bank of
China arising from the Group's borrowings denominated
in HKD and RMB respectively.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivatives
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount
of financial instruments outstanding at the balance sheet
date were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

For the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank borrowings, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended
31st December, 2008 would decrease/increase
by HK$3,108,000 (2007: decrease/increase by
HK$2,339,000).
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6. 2RIT R %)
(b) EEAKMEEEERKE (&)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

For structured borrowing, the number of business days in
the period for which Spread Rate < -0.05% is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If 8
(2007: 8) of business days more in the period for which
Spread Rate < -0.05% and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31st December, 2008 would decrease by approximately
HK$57,000 (2007: decrease by HK$911,000).

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased
during the current year mainly due to the increase in
variable rate debt instruments.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2008, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of

the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated balance sheet.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have significant concentration
of credit risk. Trade receivables consist of a large number
of customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan

covenants.
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6. €T A ®)
(b) EEMEEEERBE &)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31st December, 2008, the Group has
available undrawn borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$249,310,000 (2007: HK$35,000,000). The Group
monitors its current and expected liquidity requirements
regularly and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements
in the short and long term.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative
financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments that settle on a net
basis, undiscounted net cash (inflows)/outflows are
presented.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TR TE %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEREAKREEAZEREE &)

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) TmEELERE(E)

Liquidity and interest risk tables mEE S RAEREREK
Weighted On Carrying
average demand or Total  amount at
effective  less than undiscounted ~ 31.12.2008

interest rate 1 month 1-3 3 months 2-5  cashflows W-ZENE

MEFS KBRS months  tolyear  1-2years years  ®fBEE t=A=t-A
BBA®  -@AR  -2Z@EF =@AE-£ -EZRE WERLE &HBAE FEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR ThT Thx ThT ThT ThT

2008 ZEENE

Non-derivative FiEHKER
financial liabilities

Trade, bills and other 25 ZBR

payables AbERE - 102,788 - - - - 102,788 102,788
Variable rate unsecured ERBRTEE

bank borrowings FEfx 27 56,403 127,885 119,954 229,750 116,909 650,901 621,659
Unsecured structured ERALEES

borrowing 48 = 5,777 5,777 11,554 11,554 34,662 33,075

159,191 133,662 125,731 241,304 128,463 788,351 157,522

Derivatives settled net BFELE

ZiTEIR
Interest rate swaps fl&E S 27 86 281 130 - 524 418
Forward foreign RENESH
exchange contracts (note) (&) 2,397 4,733 20,024 284 = 27438 24,129

2,424 4,819 20,305 414 - 21,962 24,547
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

6. €T A ®)
(b) IBEAMEEEERKE (&)

mBEEmE(E)
nBEERANERBRE(E)

Weighted On Carrying
average  demand or Total  amount at
effective less than undiscounted  31.12.2007
interest rate 1 month 1-3 3 months 25 cashflows R-FELE
mERy  RERE months  to1vyear  1-2 years years  AAREE TZA=T-H
ER7I —fARn —Z=f@A =@AZ-% —EME MERE mEhE KEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL AL TAL AL TAL THL TAL
2007 s
Non-derivative FirtiKes
financial liabilities
Trade, bills and 85 RER
other payables HA R - 114,645 - - - - 114,645 114,645
Variable rate unsecured BERRIRE
bank borrowings EE S 44 45,251 95,662 110,656 99,694 145,888 497151 467762
Unsecured structured ERRLRRE
borrowing - - 3,900 3,900 7,800 15,665 31,265 33,869
159,896 99,562 114,556 107494 161,553 643,061 616,276
Derivatives settled net BREEEZMETE
Interest rate swaps filkScy 1 45 131 87 7 281 249
Forward foreign EENEAN
exchange contracts (note) (M%) 155 253 502 168 - 1,078 969
166 298 633 255 7 1,359 1,218
Note:  The above cash flows are estimated based on yield curves iz : LEARSRNEREEBEREITY

of market HK$ to US$ and RMB to US$ exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Such yield curves
show market HK$ to US$ and RMB to US$ exchange
rates over a range of maturity dates. Estimated cash
flows in RMB to US$ are then translated to HK$ at
spot rates prevailing at the balance sheet date for
presentation purpose. The above cash flows might not
reflect the actual outcomes. A significantly weakening in
RMB against US$ would result in the Group's purchasing
much more RMB than what the Group needs due to the
leverage. Details of the terms of the leveraged foreign
currency contracts are set out in Note 19.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

e the fair values of derivative financial instruments (i.e.
forward foreign currency contracts and interest rate
swaps) provided by bank, are determined based on
observable market inputs. In addition, for forward
foreign currency contracts, the Group also takes into
account the probability of triggering exchange rate to
the leverage on the notional amount. For structured
borrowing, details are set out in notes 6(a) and 23;
and

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices or rates from observable current market
transactions as input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue

Revenue represents the gross proceeds received and receivable
on the sale of goods during the year, net of discounts and
sales related tax.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERDEER @)

(continued)

Segment information PEHER

All of the Group's revenue and contribution to profit are AEEMANE N ERARE EmEE
attributable to the manufacturing and sales of paper-ware BREHE » AN EBIBI0% 2 YA &AL AR
products and over 90% of the Group's revenue and contribution FMEMREEFRBRELEERE M ZER °
to operating profit is attributable to customers who have their It WEZ5 D EAHT

manufacturing base in the PRC. Accordingly, no analysis of
segment is presented.

As at 31st December, 2007 and 31st December, 2008, RZZFZLEF+ZA=F+—BRRZZTZEN
substantial assets, especially those property, plant and F+ZA=+—8 AEERFHEE(LE
equipment, of the Group are located in the PRC. RV - WERZE)HOLRFE -
8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hir A
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Other income includes: HEa A1 -
Claims received from suppliers BEHERREMRSZ - 18
Exchange gain, net B R R E 3,317 5,337
Interest income from bank balances RITHESHRT B WA 652 2,751
Scrap sales BERISHE 5,202 1,346
Service income from customers B B8 & W B AR 5 e A 1,720 2,543
Sundry income FEIHWA 9,843 6,531

20,734 18,526
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MR
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT THT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly ARAFEANERNZRTT
repayable within five years BEZHE 18,748 14,869
Interest on discounted bills BIREREAR - 180
Total borrowing costs BEEKANERE 18,748 15,049
Less: amounts capitalised to property, B BREME - BE X
plant and equipment REZERETE (6,879) (8,212)
11,869 6,837
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31st REBZ_ZEZNEF+_A=1T—HBILFER
December, 2008 arising on the general borrowing pool of HAEE—REESBAEAZEERARK
the Group were calculated by applying a capitalisation rate ERPYERMIIZER L ELNI.0% (ZF
of approximately 3.0% (2007: 5.1%) to expenditure on the TEF 5.1%)FTEMmMEH °
qualifying assets.
10.TAXATION 10. B 18
2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Current taxation BVERFI T
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBFEH 1,265 2,141
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R ERERER 585 3,431
1,850 5,672
Overprovision in prior years: EEEBEREE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBMEH - (5,366)
Deferred taxation (note 25) EFERIA (P 5E25) 4,420 3,164

6,270 3,370
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94

On 26th June, 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate
from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2007: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for
the year.

Taxation arising in or other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

A portion of the Group’s profits are earned by the Macau
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated under the Macau SAR's
Offshore Law. Pursuant to the Macau SAR’s Offshore Law, such
portion of profits are exempted from Macau complimentary
tax, which is currently at 12% of the profits. Further, in the
opinion of the directors, that portion of the Group's profit is
not at present subject to taxation in any other jurisdiction in
which the Group operates.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
major operating PRC subsidiaries of the Group are exempted
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from
their first profit-making year, followed by a 50% reduction
for the next three years.

On 16th March, 2007, the PRC promulaged the Law of the PRC
on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law") by Order No. 63 of
the President of the PRC. On 6th December, 2007 the State
Council of the PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the
New Law. The New Law and Implementation Regulations will
unify the tax rate from 24% to 25% for subsidiaries operating
in the PRC from 1st January, 2008. For the PRC subsidiary
started the 50% reduction in the income tax rate, the reduction
will be based on the 25% new tax rate. Moreover, 2008 will
be deemed to be the first profit making year for the PRC
subsidiary that is entitled to the tax concession.

The deferred tax balances were adjusted to reflect the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the respective periods
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
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10. TAXATION (continued) 10. BiIH ()
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FARIEZ HEGE W= RARRATAEZ
before taxation per the consolidated income statement as HERT :
follows:
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FAT
Profit before taxation i B A E 47,702 115,114
Tax at Hong Kong Profits BREENERE16.5%
Tax rate of 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) (ZZZEF :175%)
FTEZHIE 7,871 20,145
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBA 2 BB &
for tax purpose (7,594) (15,524)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PAIMBIAZ 2 BT E
for tax purpose 2,000 1,825
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEREE - (5,366)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  ARERFEEE ZHEEE 922 -
Utilisation of tax loss previously A SE AT R TERR 2 Bl TH & 18
not recognised (153) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary SR AR A IR E R =5
differences previously not recognised G E (209) (38)
Effect of tax exemption/different HEMEARERERIE
tax rate of PRC subsidiaries METRzE 2,618 1,980
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings R EIRE R R R D IR &R
of PRC subsidiaries (note 25) ZIBEFERI B (M 5E25) 210 -
Others HAb 605 348
Tax charge for the year FEHERAX 6,270 3,370
Contingent liabilities relating to taxation of the Group are set BRAAEERE 2 AEFEIHRKIFEI0 -

out in note 30.
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11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

1. FEFHE

2008 2007
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THT
Profit for the year has been arrived at FEMBEEME GEA)
after charging (crediting): THI%IE :
Auditor’'s remuneration Gl 1,380 1,300
Cost of inventories recognised BERAAZ 2 FERAR
as expenses 835,341 713,899
Write-down of inventories T E MR
(included in “cost of sales”) (Gt A [SHEKA] ) 13,275 =
Depreciation of property, M BERREZRE
plant and equipment 46,858 34,652
Release of prepaid lease payments $ [0 + Hb (55 PR AETE A
on land use rights AERE 493 493
Loss on disposal of property, HEME K5
plant and equipment REREEE 8 285
(Reversal of) impairment losses on (B[E)E S EKKIEZ
trade receivables B EEE (2,910) 2,056
Operating lease rental for EERBAEEE
warehouse and office premises HEHS 112 57
Staff costs BIRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) s=Me (ME12) 11,078 12,463
Other staff HihB8T
- salaries and other allowances —Fre R E thERL 38,330 25,501
- retirement benefit scheme — RIRAEFIET B R
contributions 1,959 677
— share-based payments — ARz 1,650 2,382
53,017 41,023
Changes in fair value of derivative MESMITEATEEZSY
financial instruments
- realised —B#H (4,433) (5,007)
- unrealised —REH 24,764 (5,554)
20,331 (10,561)
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12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’' 12.EEME&RESHMH

EMOLUMENTS
Directors =
Other emoluments
Hipie
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme hased
benefits contributions payments 2008 2007
Fees I Bonus RINER  UBRGAZA Total Total
ik H g fehl HE [ A i HeaE Heag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TEL TETL T Tin TiEn TETL
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok STARELE - 2,151 - 12 272 2,435 2,671
Mr. Hui Sum Ping FRLLE - 2,151 - 12 369 2,532 2,812
Mr. Hui Sum Tai TRRRE - 1,894 - 12 718 2,624 3,072
Mr. Wong Wing Por TRHEE - 1,972 - 12 293 2,211 2,535
Ms. Hui Yuen Li TRt - 599 - 12 215 826 977
Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan BEBLE 105 - - - 23 128 132
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Fric HRERE 105 - - - 23 128 132
Mr. Wong Chu Leung by 105 - - - 23 128 132
Total for 2008 “ZE\EEHELE 315 8,767 - 60 1,936 11,078 12,463
Total for 2007 “RRLERMOLE 294 8,220 1,065 60 2,804 12,463
Bonuses to directors are determined as a percentage of the BERZTRAN2EHEZE_ZSZTN\FET+=_A=
profit before taxation of the Group for the two years ended T—BLEMEFERSEBAANES D LE
31st December, 2008. JE °
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to REA AEBBREZNEAMNE THES
these directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the EERBEEMASERAMAREER 2 RE)
Group or as compensation for loss of office and no director SHEBHES  TEEEHECHME -

had waived any emoluments.
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12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES' 12.EEMERESHM =)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees =3=1
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBRAUGETMALTHREG(ZZEZT £
Group, four (2007: four) were directors of the Company FOMBARAES  REZHFHEN L
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of X#HF) o BTN (ZTZTLF : —f)AL
the remaining one (2007: one) individual were as follows: ) (N
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT T
Salaries and other benefits e REMBER 750 825
Retirement benefit RIRTEFET SR
scheme contributions 12 12
Share-based payments LARR 2 24 2 2 i 390 307
1,152 1,144
13.DIVIDENDS 13.RE
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT THT
Final dividend paid in respect of 2007 BT EFRARE
of HK4.32 cents BR%4.3251
(2007: Final dividend paid in respect (ZZZEF Bk
of 2006 of HK4.64 cents) per share ZEERNFRE
f% B R4 .647540) 20,864 19,669
Interim dividend paid in respect of BT LFHHRE
2007 of HK1.68 cents per share BR%1.687%51 - 8,107

20,864 27,776
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13.DIVIDENDS (continued) 13. 02 B (&)

The directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31st December, 2008. The final dividend
in respect of 2007 of HK4.32 cents per share proposed by
the directors was approved by the shareholders in the annual
general meeting held in 2008.

EETRBENBRE_BT\F+-A=+
—BLEFEZREBRE  EFRERBEAR
SET\FRTZRRAEAR LHE-T
T2 KRS SR 325 o

14.EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.8REF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is
based on the following data:

AR B EBRAAER A ARG B REAR
SBRMTVEATBIEE

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Earnings B
Earnings for the purposes of basic and  FEEREANEE
diluted earnings per share B8Rz & 41,432 111,744
2008 2007
Number of shares BROHE
Weighted average number of ordinary EEREARTZ
shares for the purpose of basic DN 5 T AR AR B

earnings per share

482,924,000 449,620,515

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary EBREFRELTEE

shares in respect of share options TR G 2 & 5,264,325
Weighted average number of ordinary FTEEREERT 2 g

shares for the purpose of diluted T T AR AR K

earnings per share 454,884,840

No diluted earnings per share has been presented for the
year ended 31st December, 2008 because the exercise price
of the Company’s share options was higher than the average
market price for shares for that year.

BE-FENF+-AS+—BAILFE &
AR AR 2 17 (R 2 I3 4
TEAT - ML ESTISREERT -
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15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% - BERR®

Furniture, Plant,
Factory Leasehold fixtures machinery
Construction premises land and Leasehold and office and Motor
in progress in the PRC buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HELH AENE G #ER i
fRIR HERE i £ B BOTRE  REREE bt &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR AR AR TR TR TR TaR TR
CosT A
At 1st January, 2007 “3Z+F-B-A 26,142 139,982 4,291 21865 8217 263,203 8,942 468,322
Exchange adjustments % - - 83 7 1 - - 91
Additions b 37573 - - 1409 1359 106,154 624 481,119
Disposals it - - - - (45) (641) 27) (713)
Transfer &3 (2,100 - - 689 - 1411 - -
At 315t December, 2007 ZER4E
+ZA=1-A 395,215 139,982 437 29,970 9,59 360,147 9,539 948,819
Fxchange adjustments BiAE - - 102 761 43 972 8 1,961
Additions b 2158 - - 3740 1230 116,762 797 350,071
Disposals ik - - - - (84) (456) - (640)
Tranfer 1 (531,189) 308,557 - - - 222,632 - -
At 31st December, 2008 “EI)\E
t-A=1-A 91,568 448,539 4,476 3447 10,781 700,057 10419 1,300,311
DEPRECIATION AND fER A
AMORTISATION
At 1st January, 2007 ZERtE-A-H - 16,956 3 12,667 2976 83,554 3261 119,726
Exchange adjustments EiAZ - - 4 3 1 = = 8
Provided for the year EERG - 5,604 7 5,517 889 20,900 1,549 34,662
Elminated on disposals ihERTE - - - - il (179) (22) (212)
Al 315t Decernber, 2007 ZERtETZA=T-H - 22,580 489 18,187 3,855 104,275 4,788 164,174
Exchange adjustments EjaE - - b 419 8 298 45 775
Provided for the year FEAR - 10,759 179 5,697 990 27556 1677 16,858
Eliminated on disposals (R - - - - (32) (104) - (136)
At 315t December, 2008 Z55\E+=A=1-R - 33,339 673 24,303 4801 132,02 6,510 201,671
CARRYING VALUES REfE
At 31st December, 2008 5T\t f=1-A 91,568 415,200 3803 10,168 5,960 568,032 3,909 1,098,640
At 31st December, 2007 Z5RHE+f=1-A 395,215 117402 3,885 11,783 5,731 255,872 4,751 794,645
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15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - MERZE®)
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are L BERBREERAERERAT
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates FRITE -
per annum:
Factory premises in the PRC 4% B g = 4%
Leasehold land and buildings 4% HE i RIEF 4%
Leasehold improvements 20% HEMEEE 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% B - HERBAERE 10%
Plant, machinery and equipment 3'/,% - 33'/,% e - et Rk E 3'/,% - 33'/,%
Motor vehicles 20% TE 20%
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
The carrying value of the Group's ERINTZAEEEE
leasehold land and buildings shown T RIEFZRMERSE :

above comprises:

Situated in Hong Kong under TR BEBWIRRPBHENFE

medium-term lease 1,465 1,540
Situated in Macau under RPN IR R LA

medium-term lease 2,338 2,345

3,803 3,885
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16.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE 16.t1i{EAERSHEERE

RIGHTS
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
The Group's prepaid lease payments ZNER [E b {5 R
on land use rights comprise: FENHERBERIE
Land use rights in the PRC PR B2 b (55 R A
Medium-term lease FhERAE A 35,663 36,156
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BEFRMIEDHT ¢
Non-current asset FEMEEE 34,854 35,347
Current asset MENEE 809 809
35,663 36,156
Included in the Group's prepaid lease payments on land use AEBEz T HFREENBEERERRE
rights is HK$2,056,000 (2007: HK$2,117,000) prepayments 2,056,000/ (=T Z + F : 2,117,000/
under processing arrangement which represent the prepaid TL)ZINTZEEBAR - i T E AREgE

amount under an operating lease for land use rights. HETZHENS5E -
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17.INVENTORIES 17. &

2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Raw materials R 54,099 176,255
Work in progress R 372 740
Finished goods 2R 11,160 15,003
65,631 191,998

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 1. EZ R HMMEWRIE
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 109,684 128,477
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B REREE (803) (3,713)
108,881 124,764
Other receivables H e U RIE 6,538 6,661
Total trade and other receivables B o hEMEWRRIBRRE 115,419 131,425
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18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)  18. BB K H i BULFRIE (4)

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 150 days to
its trade customers which may be extended to selected trade
customers depending on their trade volume and history of
settlement with the Group. The following is an aged analysis
of trade receivables net of allowance of doubtful debts at
the balance sheet date:

AEBGETHESEFPE10AFEES - A
AUARBEEEPEASEZE 5 E RMNK
CHMERZEES - THREERHIER
REBR B S RYGIRZIRER DT

2008 2007

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Current B A 97,603 102,275
Overdue 1 to 30 days #HI1Z=30H 11,278 22,489
108,881 124,764

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
external litigation search to assess the potential customer's
credit quality and defines credit limits on a customer-by-
customer basis. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed monthly. Trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$11,278,000 (2007:
HK$22,489,000) which were past due at the reporting date
but for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
Such amount relates to a number of independent customers
that have good trade and payment records with the Group.
There has not been a significant change in credit quality of the
relevant customers and the Group believes that the balances
are still recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. The average age of these receivables is
41 days based on invoice dates (2007: 48 days).

EERMEMHBRERN  ARBESRBINBHF
ARR - FHEEBREERFPEEEEZER
EEREBREFPREFERRE BRZFEE
REFREEAFELRT - BEARBHRR
B2 8 5 18 WA 2 ST B 37 S 5T B9 3R A
BeEFPHR -

AEEBZESEWFIEAHBT BIERAER
%8 511,278,0008 0 2 B F B (=TT +
122,489,000 L) * ZEREREBERA
B8 8 - AN S B A LR (E B 18 1T R
B ZERBREAEERERITE S KN
Rz Z 2B IRFER ZEEFP 25
BEEEVYESANE  BAREEBEMNITK
BlEBEH AEBVERZESEKRTNITE
FRzZERR -  BEZFZAH  ZZEKK
B FHER A4 B(ZTZT£F  48H) -
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18.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)  18.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

EZRHMERIRIE &)

BEMERMEZE S ERKEZR
[

2008 2007

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ExT T

Overdue 1 to 30 days #HI1=30H 11,278 22,489
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REEREZES

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Balance at beginning of the year FYES 3,713 5,577

(Reversal of) impairment losses (B[ B#RE 5 EWHKIEA

recognised on trade receivables 2 REEE (2,910) 2,056

Amounts written off as uncollectible i3 < T A W B & 58 - (3,920)

Balance at end of the year FRER 803 3,713

Impairment losses were recognised based on the Group's
historical experience, aged analysis and internal assessment
of the recoverability of the debt. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

HEBBRDREASEHERZ BELR
AR e 3 A Jo Wi (2] 1 & By P BB BT A T FERRL © AR
KB EL X T AR AA EAERm o
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19.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19.0TE SR TIT A

2008 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE a& BE aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET FHEL FHEIL
Foreign exchange EEINES K
forward contracts 706 (24,129) 2,141 (969)
Interest rate swaps H) 2 452 HR - (418) - (249)
706 (24,547) 2,141 (1,218)

The Group has entered foreign currency forward contracts
to manage its exposure to currency risk of certain trade,
bills and other payables denominated in foreign currencies.
These derivatives are not accounted for under hedging
accounting.

At 31st December, 2008, the Group had outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts that are measured at fair value at
the balance sheet. The Group has an obligation, in accordance
with the terms of the respective contracts, to buy or sell US$
monthly until maturity. The instruments purchased are to be
settled on a net basis. The major terms of these outstanding
foreign currency forward contracts are as follow:

REE R E B IMNE & B VAE B E T UMK
HEZES  REEEMENRBEAZZE
BER - ZETETAWRREHRGFHEA
BRERIE o

RZZEZN\F+ZA=+—8  A&EE#HK
BT 2 EMINES N AE R 2 A FEF
B -RESAOZGH  ~EBEREERA
BARBEHLETL  EERKNIIHAL - 68
ZRFEDIRBROTNEEREL 2 HEE
EoBEZTARERREME  ZFHARET
ZEHSNE R B ERIFRFLT ¢
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19.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19.0TE €I A®)

(continued)

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31st (i)
December, 2008

R-EBNF+ZA=+—-RAZ
SHEEHELN

Remaining

Total monthly total notional

notional amount amount Maturity Contract rate

SRERELE BHRTIERELE & % 5 EHER

Buy US$3,600,000 US$23,100,000 1 year HK$7.726/US$1 to
(note i) HK$7.748/US$1

E A3,600,0003% T 23,100,000 7T —&F 772657,/ 1ETLE
(Ht&ED) 7.748% 7T, 1% T

Buy US$4,000,000 US$42,500,000 1 to 2 years HK$7.720/US$1 to
(note ii) HK$7.750/US$1

5 A4,000,0003 7T 42,500,0003 T —EMF 772087/ 1ETLE
(Bt &Eii) 7.750% 7T,/ 1370

Sell US$7,500,000 US$39,500,000 1 year RMB6.085/US$1 to
(note iii) RMB6.8472/US$1

& 117,500,000 7T 39,500,000 7T —4F AR#6.08570,  1ELE
(B Eiii) AR#6.84727T 13T

Notes: B 5

Under the above foreign currency forward contracts, the i
Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at stipulated contract
rate on a monthly basis. At each monthly settlement, when
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the
Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or higher than
the contract rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when market
HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is lower than the contract

rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of the agreed notional
amount of USD at the contract rate with HK$.

R ERINEEREL  AKBURESOER
BABAEZLRELAET NERABEE ¥
FETT,/ 55 70 T 45 B SR ) 4 7K 5k B (BN & HA
T/ ETERERARRANER) - AKE
BRENEZEAZELREELET A
i+ BT, LT IBE R AR @ (R
EHEL  ETERERAHNES)  AlAE
EREETANEXEFEARELRRSRE
e
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HE_ZTZT

NETZA=+—HIEFE

19.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31st
December, 2008 (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Under the above foreign currency forward contracts, the
Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at stipulated contract
rate on a monthly basis. At each monthly settlement, when
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the
Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is higher than the
contract rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when market
HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than the
contract rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of the agreed
notional amount of USD at the contract rate with HK$.

Several contracts with total monthly notional amount of
US$27,000,000 contain additional feature which limit the
Group's potential gains. At the settlement date, if the spot
HK$/US$ exchange rate is higher than a stipulated cap rate,
the Group will not get to buy the contractual notional at the
contract rate.

Under the above foreign currency forward contracts, the
Group is a party that has an obligation to deliver USD and
receive RMB at a series of predetermined prices, based on
the price calculated with a pre-specified formula.

Several contracts with total monthly notional amount of
US$38,500,000, the Group will deliver US$ and receive RMB
at stipulated contract rate on a semi-monthly/monthly basis.
At each semi-monthly/monthly settlement, when market
RMB/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the Group
(i.,e. spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than the
contract rate), the Group gets to sell the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when market
RMB/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group
(i.e. spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is higher than the contract
rate), the Group gets to sell 2 times of the agreed notional
amount of USD at the contract rate with RMB.

Several contracts with total monthly notional amount of
US$23,500,000 contain additional feature that the relevant
banks can terminate the contracts when the based on the

pre-specified formula.

P A

19.71

£EmITRE®)

(i) R=FFBNF+ZA=+—-HZ

SEEBEN (H)

e (&)

R LRNERBMAL  AEBUABREANE
BABAXRLIRELAET NEAKER ¥
P IT,/ 57T T 5 BE R 4 7K S B (BN & H008
T/ ETEERZEREBRNAENEX) - AEEH
BREENEXEARELRZSE LRI A
i+ &I, 3E 7T 5 N A I AN & [ (BD
EHET/ ETEXERENER) - BIRE
BERRETANEREFEARTRRSESE

JT °

S H&EHESLEEAE27000,000XT2ETA
HBAEREINEEBIERTZ 5l - REH
B MESST ETERSREE CRER
B AEEBTSRENEREAGNEES
gg: °

R LRSNERMAH  AEEAE AR
RIBEREEZER  RELEAZAXGFE
ZERBELEIREAARBZITNT °

BT ARLEHLSEH38,500,000KTZ2ET
EHME AEEBEEERA AZEEZA
BFEREHETREAARY - REg¥A A
HEHEE - Wmis EARE EITEREG KA
EE(PARE ETZAHERAHERE
HFER) - AIAKEESHEOFERELAHE
ZETZECTE - AT WmBEARE %
TERHAEBRF(BIARE Ex2AH
EXZRELHFE) AIREEEUAREIR
EHFREL2EMBEZETRERT °

S A AEBEHEA23,500,000X T2 ETA
H 3 AN - HERIERT R AT R IERIRTE SEHE A
ZANFTEZZEEN -
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19.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19.0TE €I A®)

(continued)

(i) R=FBLtHF+=-A=t—-BZ

(ii) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31st

December, 2007

Total monthly
notional amount

BRAEBATHE

Remaining
total notional
amount

BRTERATHE

Maturity
& v 4 5

SHEEHELN

Contract rate

BHE=X

Buy US$3,000,000
(note i)

B A3,000,0003 7T
(B =D

Buy US$2,000,000

US$33,200,000

33,200,000 T

US$22,500,000

1 to 2 years

—SWE

1 to 2 years

HK$7.681/US$1 to
HK$7.738/US$1
768187 1ETLE

7738 1E T

HK$7.699/US$1 to

(note ii) HK$7.739/US$1

B A2,000,000FE T 22,500,000 7T —ERE 76998 T, 1XTLE
GED) 7.739% 7T, 1%

Sell HK$15,000,000 HK$15,000,000 1 year RMB0.9380/HK$1 to
(note iii) RMB0.9708/HK$1

& 115,000,000 7T 15,000,000 7T — 4 AR¥0.93807T, /1B TE
(Bt 3Eiii) AR®0.97087T 15T

Buy HK$20,000,000 HK$20,000,000 1 year RMBO0.9414/HK$1 to
(note iii) RMB0.9590/HK$1

B A20,000,000/% 7T 20,000,000 7T — 4 AR¥0.94147T /1B TE
(Bt 3Eiii) AR®0.95907T 178 7T

Notes: P E -

RIE EAMNEERAL  REBAZESAHX
RABAZTREHEL RNEALER &
7870,/ 35 70 T 45 BE 2R 47 AN 65 (81 R (BN & HR
T ETEXRERAEREGHNER) - AEH
BRENEXEARTRECEZET - A
i &I IS E R A S B (D
BB ETERERANER) - BIAE
ERIRETANEXEFEARTRRCEE
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is lower than the contract 7T, ©

Under the above foreign currency forward contracts, the i
Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at stipulated contract
rate on a monthly basis. At each monthly settlement, when
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the
Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or higher than
the contract rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when market
HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group

rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of the agreed notional
amount of USD at the contract rate with HK$.
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19.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19.0TE€MIT A2

(continued)

(ii) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31st (i) A—ZZ2tF+-A=+—-HZ
December, 2007 (continued) MEBBEN (&)

Notes: (continued) MitsE : (&)

ii. Under the above foreign currency forward contracts, the ii. REBEEMINEREL  AEEURES DX
Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at stipulated contract RABAEZETRBELHET REALER &
rate on a monthly basis. At each monthly settlement, when P IT R ITTG IE R A4 A & B R (B & Hi8
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the T ETERERBBRENER)  A5E
Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is higher than the BRAENEXBEAZEEESBEZET - A
contract rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional i BB EITT 5 E R F A & B ()
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when market EHET  ETERRRANER)  B|ARE
HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group BB TENEXEEEARTERSRE
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than the 7, ©
contract rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of the agreed
notional amount of USD at the contract rate with HK$.

iii. These contracts will not be settled on a monthly basis. They iil. WEAHTRALE  MHRERFHES -
will be settled on the maturity date.

(iii)Interest rate swaps contracts as at 31st ([ R=FBNEFR=-BFLF+=
December, 2008 and 2007 B=t+—BzEHEHNF=E
Notional amount Maturity date Swaps
EREH ZIH B = 1
HK$50,000,000 17.5.2010 From HIBOR floating rate to HIBOR
50,000,000/ 7T floating rate with maximum interest rate

of 4.2%

mEBRTAERSIIREFTERITRERS

EE  BREMEEL 2%

HK$50,000,000 25.5.2010 From HIBOR floating rate to HIBOR
50,000,000/ T floating rate with maximum interest rate
of 4.3%

MEBRITRAEFREZEERTBRITAERE
EE  meME AL 3%
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20.BANK BALANCES AND CASH

21

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances at prevailing market rates from 0.01% to
0.36%.

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's bank balances,
approximately HK$148,417,000 (2007: HK$12,723,000),
HK$3,098,000 (2007: HK$12,853,000), HK$6,316,000 (2007:
Nil) and HK$4,000 (2007: HK$1,901,000) denominated in RMB,
USD, HKD and Euro dollars respectively are the currencies
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities.

.TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables
at the balance sheet date:

20.BITEBRERE

21.

RITHEBRBESPEASERG RS KRR
175 A N F0.01%%E0.36% 2 iR 17 &5
ﬁj% °

AEENEBREEERSANEEEUINZ
EBARYE - Ex - B REUTIEZRTT
R 2 BREE D 5149148,417,0008 (= F
T4 112,723,000 70) *+ 3,098,000/ T
—ZTZT 412,853,000/ 7T) * 6,316,000
AT(ZFTLF  T)R4,000BT(=ZFF
4 : 1,901,000/ 7T) °

B% RBERAEMEMNRE

TIARGERZE S  RERENFIRRER
DA

2008 2007

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Current BNER 41,799 43,137
Overdue 1 to 30 days #HAI1Z=30H 1,143 10,285
Overdue 31 to 60 days #HI31Z=60H 48 6,231
Overdue for more than 60 days #HEI60H A £ 636 476
43,626 60,129

Other payables and accrued charges H b B 3B M ERT S 59,162 54,516
102,788 114,645

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 31 days
(2007: 29 days). The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the
credit time frame.

BEEWMFHEEHAIRB(ZZEEL
£ 29H) - AEBF A M BEARE IR
R UERMEENFESTBARE
HAMR -
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22.UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 22 BIRHRITIEE
Unsecured bank borrowings comprise: ERRRITEESRE
2008 2007
Effective interest rate HK$°000 HK$'000
B AR FET FATT
Bank loans RITER 2.481% - 6.151%
(2007: 4.655% — 5.674%) 465,168 335,597
Bank advances SRITEN 1.800% - 4.820% 124,659 -
Trust receipt loans St REE® 1.500% — 5.928%
(2007: 3.520% - 6.050%) 31,832 132,165
621,659 467,762
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT THT
Carrying amount repayable: FEEZRMEE
Within one year —FNR 282,974 236,848
More than one year, but not —F A BB F
exceeding two years 224,445 91,754
More than two years, but not MEA EBTBBRF
exceeding five years 114,240 139,160
621,659 467,762
Less: Amount due within one year B OmBAET —FRN
shown under current liabilities Eafp:tiic (282,974) (236,848)

Amounts due after one year —FRIPSE 338,685 230,914
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22.UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continved) 22.EIERRITEE @)

All the bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing FIERTERANZDNERE  EARSET
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. HREBHS KRR

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's unsecured bank AEBENEBAEEERSAEEEUINZ
borrowings, approximately HK$127,955,000 bank borrowings EMARBIEzERKHETEEZERERE
(2007: Nil) are denominated in RMB that is the currency other #9127,955,0008 (=TT LF : T) ©

than the functional currency of the relevant group entity.

23.UNSECURED STRUCTURED BORROWING 23. EEFEBEER

The Group entered into a contract of unsecured structured BE_TTANF+A=T—HILFE &K
borrowing with a bank during the year ended 31st December, SEEBTII Y —EATH ERIBLERE
2006 for a period of five years. The contract contains embedded BEH - ZAHNBREMENETETR - M
derivatives and was designated as financial liabilities at fair RERERRZENEEIETE RARTER
value through profit or loss on initial recognition. ABRRZMBAE -
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T THET
Unsecured structured EREEES 28

borrowing, classified as:

Current (note) BIVER (B 7)) 7,750 7,800
Non-current JEBNHA 25,325 26,069
33,075 33,869
Note:  The current portion represents the estimated fair value of Bt & - BVEREB D Bl B 45 & B B aT — F A MR
amount repayable to the bank within one year from the TEESBZMATATE-

balance sheet date.
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23.UNSECURED STRUCTURED BORROWING

(continued)

Major terms of the unsecured structured borrowing at 31st
December, 2008 and 2007 are set out below:

23. BMIERLEBEE 2

R-FENER-FFLE+-A=+—
B WERERERY SRR

Borrowing Maturity date Repayment amount
wE ZIH B HESE
US$5,000,000 25.9.2011 First half year: 2% per annum on the
5,000,000% T notional amount
BYE BEFEESEI2%
Remaining 4 and half years:
8% minus (6% x N/M) per annum on the
notional amount
RN -
BEFEERDEI8%M(6% x N/M)
Where: Hep
N = number of business days in the period for which = BE> = -0.05% A ZEXABE

Spread Rate> = -0.05%
M = actual number of business days in the period
Notional amount = US$50,000,000

"Spread Rate” means 10-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate minus
2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate

“10-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate” means the rate for a reset date
will be the rate for U.S. Dollar swaps with a maturity of the
designated maturity of 10 years, expressed as a percentage
which appears on the Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1 Page as of
11:00 a.m. New York time on each business day.

“2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate” means the rate for a reset date
will be the rate for U.S. Dollar swaps with a maturity of the
designated maturity of 2 years, expressed as a percentage
which appears on the Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1 Page as of
11:00 a.m. New York time on each business day.

M = BHZERZ%X A B8
#FESF = 50,000,000 ET

[ B2 | #5104 = JjT-ISDA-#5 Hi 7l K Rl 24F ==
7T-ISDA-F5 H Fl| =

(105 X JT-ISDA-F= Hi A X | f5 ST A X B
HZMEELSEERAAEE TFEHZ
ERFEHAER DEOLERT  TREEE
FELFNKE(RBAORB) ERBELRE
ISDAFIX1EER °

[24F 32 TT-ISDA-1= B = |2 E /] A X H 8
ZMNEEREERAREEMFEIH X
TEHBAE . DBASLRT YR EEE
FELFNKRE(RBAORB) ERBELRE
ISDAFIX1EER °
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23.UNSECURED STRUCTURED BORROWING

(continued)

The entire combined contract is measured at fair value that
are estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and market rates
adjusted for specific features of this instrument. Increase in
the fair value of the unsecured structured borrowing for the
year of HK$7,157,000 has been charged to the consolidated
income statement. Decrease in the fair value of HK$9,762,000
has been credited to the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31st December, 2007.

The structured borrowing is denominated in United States
dollars that is the currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entity.

23. BIEARLEBEE (2)

ZAEMENEZERATENE  MZATFE
DEABSRETELN - BIEFAEMNEGE
BZRBREMGBEBIAZFEERE 2SS
FEmG e FABRBERERZATE
#hN7,157,0007%8 T B R 4R A Wam R R o
HE-_TTLF+-_A=+—BLEE" 2
FER 49,762,000/ LB st AR A W R
A o

REBEBEUXTE  METAEEEBE
BB AN G -

24.SHARE CAPITAL 24 B} 7R
Number of shares Share capital
RHHE B
2008 2007 2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT
Ordinary shares EBREE0.10BTZ
of HK$0.10 each LR N
Authorised: EEBRA
At the beginning and RENRER
the end of the year 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issue and fully paid: BETRBRRA :
At the beginning of the year ~ RE7] 482,924,000 423,898,000 48,292 42,390
Exercise of share options TR ARE
(Note 26) (HizE26) - 16,626,000 - 1,662
Placing of new shares REFRR - 42,400,000 = 4,240
At the end of the year RELL 482,924,000 482,924,000 48,292 48,292
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

On 19th July, 2007, arrangements were made for a private
placement to independent investors of 42,400,000 shares of
HK$0.10 each in the Company held by Hop Fung Industries
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company, at a price
of HK$3.55 per share representing a discount of approximately
7.31% to the closing market price of the Company’'s shares
on 19th July, 2007.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement of the same date, Hop
Fung Industries Limited subscribed for 42,400,000 new shares
of HK$0.10 each in the Company at a price of HK$3.55 per
share. The proceeds were used to finance the construction

of a new manufacturing factory and acquisition of production
equipment. These new shares were issued under the general
mandate granted to the directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 28th May, 2007 and rank pari passu
with other shares in issue in all respects.

24 A ()

REZZZLFEATNA  ARATFEREKER
Hop Fung Industries Limited{EH %5 -
REMRIGEBILZERABLREETA
REERFEZARARGREE 108 TR
742,400,0000% - 7% Bt B% (B & A 2 8 i 17
RZZEZLFLATNABZKRTERED
7.31% °

BIER B 2 REWZ - Hop Fung Industries
Limitedi& & B%3.556/ JT Z B 1% R A 2 7
FRXE(E0.10/ 7T 2 #TAx 17 42,400,0008% °
FIEHRBRARBEENRE KB EER
REES - ZEFTRODIBERRFAR=T
THERA-+TN\BRTZREBEFAERA
EERE - MBEMET LHEEME R
TRGBES HEEZEFRFHAL
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25.DEFERRED TAXATION 25. 3R FE B A

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by
the Group and movements thereon during the current and
prior reporting period:

AT AAREBER ZELEHRE G ERR AR
SHERAERE RS

Undistributed

earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax subsidiaries Write-down
depreciation HEIMI{EARZ of inventories Total
R A E RDKEF FEMA st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET FTHET
At 1st January, 2007 RZZEZTLF—-H—H 666 - - 666
Charge to consolidated ERFEHZERERTR
income statement
for the year 3,164 - - 3,164
At 31st December, 2007 RZZZ+F+-HA=+—H 3,830 - - 3,830
Charge (credit) to EREELZAMERINMG (GTA)
consolidated income
statement for the year 6,052 210 (1,842) 4,420
At 31st December, 2008 R=ZZFZENF+=-A=1+—H 9,882 210 (1,842) 8,250

At 31st December, 2008, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK5,930,000 (2007: HK$1,272,000) available to offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At 31st December, 2007, the Group also has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$1,266,000. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

RZZEZENF+_A=+—HB A&EETA
AAEBEARF Bz RERANEBER
5,930,000/ TL( Z 2 ZE L £ : 1,272,000/
7o) ° MR EATER AR RFE R - B EH
ZEVEBERBEEVIEEE - BEE
R -

—EZE+_A=+—H AKEETE
i AT 0 75 B B 2 %R1,266,00078 7T ° B X
ARERB AV B BAEEZETMH
TR 0 iR B ok S L A A
RIRIEF IR B E

N
H
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25.DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the balance sheet date, the deferred tax liabilities on
temporary differences associated with the undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries derived on or after 1st
January, 2008 amounting to approximately HK$210,000 (2007:
Nil) has been recognised.

26.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 4th September,
2003 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards
to selected participants for their contribution to the Group.
The Scheme will expire on 3rd September, 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including executive or
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors), of the Company, its subsidiaries, or any entity
("Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity, any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity, and any consultants,
advisers, managers, officers or entities that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group or
any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 36,000,000 shares, being 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date on which the shares
of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange, which
can be refreshed according to the Scheme. The number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised at any time under
the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

25.

26.

EERIE (2)

REER  ERAEKREFIREHRAEE
EhEHBARR-_ZEENEF-A—BxZ
BREEZADIKAFNAR - & ££4210,000
BR(ZEZLEF :F)-

MRG X z2%H
REXNRZERETE

RER_ZEZ=FNAMNBBBZRER "
AARICRMBREE([ZAEDEEZRE
MAMIEESLEER THERE ASEE
BERSHANEEIEL 2B - et E88ER=
T—=FhA=AEMm-

RIEZETE > ARBEFEARARA - &
8 A R S AN S B E I B A R A E AR
B EREBE(FARERE]D ZAERER
(BRHOTEFTAFFATEFTHBULIENTT
ER)REBERE URBEARIRARG - 5
S - AR B H R IR BB AR T AT R AR
SEZKERRAREMMRERBRAED
KRS 2 LR - AEERERARE
BB Z AR - AR E A S B EMPTR
ERBRATR  RBERECRTERE
ZEMBAAN - BERE - K2 SEASHBE
(A

REZAEREZBREE2ETREAT T
EITZ AN B - TSR #136,000,000 %
7 BVARBRRMRE R LT E A D #ET
Bin210% - Mk R &R AT AR IR a2 B 37 -
PAE AT B ) B B i 1T (R AR IR X =t BIIR iR
Tz 2R BEARER A TEITROZHE
TREBBARR TR 2B ETRAZ30% °
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26.

“EEN\FT-A=t-ALEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director or any of their respective
associates would result in the shares in the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with a value (based on the closing price of the shares
of the Company at the offer date of each offer) in excess of
HK$5,000,000, such grant of options must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders in accordance with
the Scheme.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee
and in the absence of such determination, from the date of
acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to the earlier
of the date on which such option lapses and ten years from
the date of offer of that option. A consideration of HK$1 is
payable upon acceptance of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal
value of the share; the closing price of the Company's shares
on the date of offer; and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer.

26. ARGz #)

REXNXZBRETE 7

REEARQ B IR R IR IR AT 81 = ke dibfE - AfE
AEAR L ZBRET S R ZRDEE -
RER+ =@ AHRE - HFBBBARA AR
EREEEBETRMNZ1% - A —BEE
BRI - B IEITE S5 S 2 [ B
BATREEMBERE  SEREETZA
TIrRAEREREETEMRBEERLE B IE
+=EA M ERREFETZAARR
7 BREEARARCETRDBB0.1% * B
BEBERRFARMASREHERED S
2 Wi {5t & )#8i85,000,000%8 7T - Als%IE
BB EAE SR A R AR RRIE LA
24t o

BERBETREEEERMNEARAZHEA
BERSTTE - MABEE @ RIAREMAELER
BEMEEZBRERBEZTERRZAR
BEHZBRERBES TF2RERS - 1
BB AN 1B TTR(E o

TEELAARRESEE  ENFERK
EE - AAREROREL BB KRHER
Befn ERNERE A BRI RES XA 2 Fi9lk
mEZRSE °




HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ZL&£ @R AR A7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2008

BE_ZTT)/\F+-_A=+—HLFE

26.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 26. ARG X2 H )
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) REXNXZBERETE (&)
The following table discloses details of the Company's share THRERHEEREMEEREZARAE
options held by directors and other employees and movements MRIELAR ZEBRERNFEAN 2 EBFHE

in such holdings during the year:

2008 ZEBEBN\F
Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised at
1.1.2008 during during  31.12.2008
Exercisable R=ZENF 2008 2008 R=ZEN\F
Option type Date of grant price —B—H Z—EBEN\F —ZEN\F t+=-A=+-H
BREER BB TEE 18 AR AT R W7 i8] RAT
HK$
BT
D 29.5.2007 2.640 18,374,360 - - 18,374,360

Exercisable at the end of the year
RELAITEE 9,187,180

Weighted average exercise price
EFHTRE 2.640 - - 2.640
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26.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 26. AR S22 (&)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) REXNXZBERETS(2)
2007 TS
QOutstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised at
1.1.2007 during during 31.12.2007
Exercisable RZZT L4 2007 2007 R-ZETLF
Option type Date of grant price —A—H ZETtF ZETLEF +ZA=1+—H
AR R =l 176EfE AR s 3! NAT{E RARITEE
HK$
AT
B 29.7.2004 1.330 7,626,000 - (7,626,000) -
€ 4.11.2004 1.104 9,000,000 = (9,000,000) =
D 29.5.2007 2.640 - 18,374,360 - 18,374,360

16,626,000 18,374,360 (16,626,000) 18,374,360

Exercisable at the end of the year
RELATE =

Weighted average exercise price
MEEFHITERE 1.208 2.640 1.208 2.640
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26.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Note:

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to
the exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by
directors at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share
options granted under the Scheme may only exercise their options
during the exercisable periods as follows:

Option type B Option type C Option type D

26. ARz @)

REXNRZBRETE (7)
FEE

BEHEREs BB RTERERNAEH
EENERARLBRERET - RiIRAT 8
Bz BERERSE ANERRATTEART
150 FL R A

Maximum % of share options exercisable

BEMBKE CHEEBRE DR E ATERRERSEDL
1.1.2005 - 31.12.2005 1.3.2005 - 28.2.2006 1.3.2008 - 28.2.2009 up to 50%
H = Al E50%

1.1.2006 - 31.12.2006 1.3.2006 - 28.2.2007 1.3.2009 - 28.2.2010

1.1.2007 - 31.12.2007 1.3.2007 - 29.2.2008 1.3.2010 - 28.2.2011

No share option was exercised during the year ended 31st
December, 2008. In respect of the share options exercised
during the year ended 31st December, 2007, the weighted
average share price at the dates of exercise was HK$3.108.
The options outstanding at the end of the year have a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.2 years
(2007: 3 years).

During the year ended 31st December, 2007, options type D
were granted on 29th May, 2007. The estimated fair values
of the options granted were HK$10,211,000.

up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)

BRAETE% (AR RITEEBR)

up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

R AE100% (VA M RITES BR)

BE_ZEZN\F+_A=+—HLFE I
EEMBREETE REE_TTLF+
AT RUEFETEZERERS - &
TE R 2 MiEFHRERI108F T - NF
IR RATEE 2 BRI 2 I T FIgR & 4V ER
FB22F (=TT LF : 3F) °

5t

RNBE_TTEEtF+_A=+—HLE
g R_ZBETZ+FERA -+ HLBHREDE

wat

ERE -BOECEREZGFT2TFES
10,211,000/ 7T °
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26.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

26. ARz @)

BREXNRZBRETE (9)

ZERAFEDER -_BAEAEE - ZEA
FrABURINT

2007

Share price on the date of grant BB ZRE HK$2.64 2.64% 7T
Exercise price 1T E HK$2.64 2.64% 7T
Expected volatility LN A 33.18% 33.18%
Expected life TEHA<F A 2.26 to 3.26 years 2.26%3.26%F
Risk-free rate 2 e ) =R 4.210 to 4.244% 4.210%4.244%
Expected dividend TEHIR S Interim: HK$0.0168 FRHR: 0.0168/8 T

Final: HK$0.0464 HRHEA : 0.046475 T
Closing share price immediately SEE W A ARG HK$2.53 2.53% 7T

before date of grant Z W fE

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company's 400-day share prices before
the date of grant. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for
the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$3,586,000 for
the year ended 31st December, 2008 (2007: HK$5,206,000)
in relation to share options granted by the Company.

8 B % 08 J5 i F % B HAAT400 A AR B R
BZBERBETE - ZEXMERNERF
HERBEBEZREM[RIATEE 17
ERHRITREERRLZZEELIE -

AEBBAEEZE_ZTENEFEF+=_A=+—H
ItFEERANRMELZEREGEZ B
53,586,000/ 7T (= EZE+4:5,206,000
BIL) ©
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27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 27 REHEEE
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments REEH  AEBREBETIIUHLCEHEM
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable BARRZEBEMZAE - AR T HARE
operating lease which fall due as follows: B -
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Within one year —FR 84 84
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEERF
(BEEEME) - 58
84 142
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KERENREASERERE HHHA
Group for certain of its warehouse, ancillary office properties MEREEMZEMNES HEZEARTH
and car parks. Lease is negotiated for an average term of —FH(ZZTTEF : —FH) WRBELOH
one year (2007: one year) with fixed monthly rentals over M {TEzEAM -
the term of the lease.
28.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28. & AREE
2008 2007
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T T
Capital expenditure in respect of BEETAERR
the acquisition of plant and RA BRI R
equipment contracted for but 2R R
not provided in the consolidated WEE AR

financial statements 55,255 151,898
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29.RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 29. R K1 R ET &

Hong Kong

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the
rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income statement
represent contributions payable to the funds by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

PRC

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of their employees to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions
amounted to approximately HK$2,019,000 (2007:
HK$737,000).

)
AREFBLSERBREEMARSGMEREEFE
([BE2EE]) - BRESFEARERHIER
BEFEGEMINARGERATESTIER BT
it - BESEHECEELEAEEEEDF
YHBIZFEAZGZESTE - REBE
SRHERA BEREEESBARAAE
ER L R A B SR BB R - AEEY
ERBESEZE-—RERARESE
B RTE MK o

RER A WER 2 BE S B8R AKBE A
B R ARBEFERE L RERES
e Z 5K o

HE

REE 2 BB R RES AT BB E 2
ZBERERRARBMNFERE - IHEAREA
BREEEZHFME-—BOLETABRRERE
ZRARTRAFT B o AR B ER KR A F
Bz E—BEREHEEMRR -

FR - RNEMNE B H 4 A2,019,0007
(=TT L4 : 737000/87T) °
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On 9th December, 2004, a tax audit was commenced by
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD") on
certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Gong Ming Hop
Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited (“GMHF"), Fung Kong Hop
Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited (“FKHF"”) and Hop Fung
(Overseas) Trading Limited (the “Subsidiaries”), in respect
of the years of assessment 1998/1999 to 2003/2004. On
26th January, 2005, 5th January, 2006 and 2nd June, 2006,
whilst these cases are still under investigation, the IRD issued
protective assessments for the years of assessment 1998/1999,
1999/2000 and 2000/2001 to 2003/2004 respectively to the
above-mentioned subsidiaries in order not to jeopardise the
assessment powers of the IRD which will be time-barred
after 6 years of assessment. In addition, the IRD issued an
additional assessment to GMHF for the year of assessment
2004/2005 on 2nd June, 2006. Objections have been filed
against all these assessments and, accordingly, no provision
has been made in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of any potential tax liabilities.

Up to date, the taxes demanded under the protective
assessments amounted to HK$75,663,980 in aggregate.
Subsequent to the lodgement of objections by the Subsidiaries,
tax reserve certificates of HK$480,000 and HK$1,400,000 in
respect of the assessments for GMHF and FKHF, pending
the outcome of the tax audits and the objections, were
purchased in March 2005 and March 2006 respectively. In
addition, tax reserve certificates of HK$1,717,279 in respect
of the assessments for GMHF, pending the outcome of the
tax audits and the objections, were purchased in December
2006. Also, banker's undertakings of HK$13,197475 were
arranged by the Group and had been accepted by the IRD
as security for payment of the mentioned tax. The remaining
amounts of tax of HK$58,869,226 demanded by the IRD have
been held over unconditionally.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the potential tax
liabilities that may arise as a result of the tax audits, if any,
would not have any significant effects on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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31.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a)

b)

During the year, the Group engaged Hop Fung (Australia)
Pty Ltd as the Group's purchase agent in Australia at an
annual fee of HK$1 for the agency services rendered to
the Group. The total value of goods purchased under this
arrangement from the suppliers amounted to HK$15,196,000
(2007: HK$27,175,000). Hop Fung (Australia) Pty Ltd is a
company in which Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, executive director
of the Company, has beneficial interest.

The remuneration of directors, who are key management
of the Group, during the year are disclosed in note 12.
The remuneration of executive directors, who are also

the key executives of the Group, is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

a)

b)

I1T.BEAEALRS

FRN - NEBERBHop Fung (Australia)
Pty LtdBASBMNBRMZ RBBREA -
WHEmAEBREZREBEREZGF
BB TT o BRI TR % HE A L FE R K
ZEMMBER15,196,0008 L (==
+ £ : 27,175,000/ T ) ° AR @l #1T
T EHFHBE L AR Hop Fung (Australia)
Pty LidP#EE Bt o

ERAEBEIEEBABZESENER
ZBERMEE12IRE - RITEERE R
AEBIESRITHAR  REZHS
HEFMEReRTEAARTRTEBS
BEE °
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32.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32.XEZMEBRATEHR

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, all of which are RZZEZENFRER-_ZTZTLF+_A=1+—
wholly-owned by the Company, as at 31st December, 2008 H AXRFRETE2ERAZEEMBE R A
and 2007 are as follows: BT
Place of Issued and
incorporation fully paid
or registration/ share capital/
Name of subsidiary operation contributed capital Principal activities
il PN g AR EEG Y BRTRAZRE BARE TEER
Chun Yik (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares Trading of paper ware
Offshore) Limited i MOP 100,000 products
EmORFBEFEERB)ERAA % 38A% 100,0008 P9 HE HmE S
Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of management
Ware Factory Limited B HK$100 service
EHEERmRERAH L@AR1007 T R E IR MRS
Non-voting

deferred shares
HK$3,000,000
(Note)
ERERELR
3,000,0007 7t (KizE)

Fung Kong Shing Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding
Ware Factory Limited B HK$2 REER
ElEHEAmBERA A Lmik2s T
Gong Ming Hop Fung Paper Ware Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of management
Factory Limited B HK$100 service
NASEERBERA A LmAR100% T REEERE
Non-voting

deferred shares
HK$3,000,000
(Note)
BREERLTR
3,000,000/ 7t (K )
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32.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32.XZMEBRATER (&)

(continued)

Place of
incorporation
or registration/

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

Name of subsidiary operation contributed capital Principal activities
WELRERE MR E Y ERTRAZRE BHERE TEXEH
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper PRC Contributed capital Manufacturing and trading
Industrial Limited * HE HK$764,494,899 of paper
RECEHAEERAA* (2007: HK$554,094,899) MR HiERE 5
EHRAT64,494,8997 1T

(ZZZ+% : 554,094,899/ 7T)
Hop Fung Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of management
BEERARAR e HK$2 service

TREAR2AE T REEE R

Hop Fung Group Company

British Virgin Islands/

Ordinary shares

Investment holding

Limited Hong Kong US$600 TEER
HEERER /B L BAR600ETT
Hop Fung International Enterprise Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of accounting
Limited B HK$2 service
EEREERMEARAR LTER2A T Rt RE
Man Shung (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares Manufacturing and trading
Offshore) Limited JRFY MOP100,000 of paper ware products

BIECRFIBEF A ERS) AR AR

Top Develop Limited

British Virgin Islands

L FAZ 100,000 FF &

Ordinary shares

HERmRERE S

Investment holding and

HRABRAR EBEIHS US$1 trading of paper
TEAR1ZET KEERERRE S
REgmBmARAR* PRC Contributed capital Manufacturing and sales
il HK$20,000,000 of paper ware products
HEHMKA20,000,00075 7T SUERHERM
EEEMORIN)BR AR * PRC Contributed capital Manufacturing and trading
(newly established in 2008) H HK$22,000,000 of paper ware products

(R=FT\FHKL)

EHMRZ22,000,0007% 7T

HERmRERE S
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32.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Note: The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the
Group, practically carry no right to dividends or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any annual general meeting
of the companies. On winding up, the holders of the deferred
shares are entitled to the distribution after the distribution
of HK$100,000,000 million to holders of ordinary shares, as
specified in the articles of association.

Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at 31st December, 2008 and 2007 or at any time during the
years.

*  Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited, Bz 4R
BERAF and &L K& CRY)BRAA are wholly foreign owned
enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of directors, principally affected the results and
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

33.EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, a subsidiary of the
Group obtained the approval from a bank established in the
PRC in respect of its application for a three-year term loan
amounting to RMB200,000,000. The directors expect that
the relevant loan agreement will be entered into on or before
10th May, 2009.

32.

33.

FTEHMBLATER (&)

Mia: SMEREEEERYIFMARERFE  BE
P S S BT A R AR S - VAR B A RME
ARRBFASBHN  HEIXRGLER
ZHER o B REARMAKERMA
AIRE - RERODIFE ARME BRIFE
A% &100,000,000,000,000% 7t 1% A] &
B K ©

M Hop Fung Group Company Limited4}
HibFTEMB AR AARARMEERE -

REZBERENFR_FELF+=-HA=+—H
AFEREFMER SHBRARYEERSE

* OREENEEERRAE REERLRE
RARRGEAR(RINERAABERE
SNERE -

J:i%ﬁllu”j§$mﬂ¥}$$l¥ BENEBEAR
BYEZAKEWNBAR - EFRA
HqE{MﬁE AERIHEEHERAR

T e

RERREHE

REER®%R  AEENBRARCDEES
BRI ZBTHRERFSEARARE
200,000,000 T 2 = F HIE 73 H 2 b
Ko BEETEH  HBEERBHEER =T
HERA+TBHKZATRIAL e
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=
Year ended 31st December,
HEt-A=t-HILEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHAT FHET THET FER
(Restated)
(8=7)
RESULTS 4
Revenue Uz 760,981 788,555 799,936 925,533 1,033,152
Cost of sales HERA (610,163) (634,422) (617.735) (713,899) (835,341)
Gross profit EH 150,818 154,133 182,201 211,634 197,811
Other income Hi A 11,554 15,728 17,742 18,526 20,734
Selling and distribution costs HERDHKA (38,069) (37277) (39,946) (45,355) (46,843)
Administrative expenses ABAX (35,200) (37.724) (42,614) (58,491) (62,198)
Other expenses HitH% (12,682) (18,601) (22,081) (24,686) (22,445)
Finance costs BB AR (1,871) (5,924) (8,644) (6,837) (11,869)
Change in fair value of unsecured — EEALEHEE
structured borrowing AFEZZY - - (12,366) 9,762 (7,157)
Changes in fair value of fTESRMTA
derivative financial instruments AYEZEE - 474 (4,278) 10,561 (20,331)
Profit before taxation BRI E 74,650 70,809 70,014 115,114 47,702
Taxation BIE (7.719) (1,096) (1,716) (3,370) (6,270)

Profit for the year FEAE 66,931 69,713 68,298 111,744 41,432
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBE

SEZERBERAA

At 31st December,

R+=A=+-H

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TAL TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BEE 481,574 663,726 843,030 1,382,637 1,581,391
Total liabilities Bafk 195,552 325,401 358,934 638,795 809,314
Equity A 286,022 338,325 484,096 743,742 772,077




=
AU B 4 RROR TR )
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